
Cumbria Police and Crime Panel

Friday, 7 February 2020 at 1.00 pm 

VENUE: Control Room, Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
Headquarters, Carleton Avenue, Penrith 
CA10 2FA 

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE:

(1) THERE WILL BE A PRIVATE BRIEFING FOR THE PANEL AT 
10.00 AM

(2) LUNCH WILL BE PROVIDED ON THIS OCCASION

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

3  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of any item on the 
Agenda.
 

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive any items of public participation.



(Questions and petitions must be received in writing by 
Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer at least seven 
working days before the date of the Panel meeting).
 

5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Panel held on 14 October 2019 (copy enclosed).
(Pages 5 - 12)

6  REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING - QUARTER 2

a  Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 
To consider a report from Cumbria Constabulary (copy enclosed). 
(Pages 13 - 16)

b  Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Revenue 
Budget Monitoring 2019/20 
To receive a report from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (copy enclosed).
(Pages 17 - 18)

7  POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER PRECEPT PROPOSALS

a  Cumbria Constabulary: 2019 HMICFRS Value for Money 
Profiles Analysis 
(enclosed). 
(Pages 19 - 24)

b  Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Forecast 
(enclosed). 
(Pages 25 - 44)

c  Draft Capital Programme 2020/21 and Beyond 
(enclosed). 
(Pages 45 - 60)

d  Precept Consultation Responses 
To receive a verbal update. 

e  Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2020/21 to 
2023/24 
(enclosed). (Pages 61 - 76)



8  DRAFT PRECEPT PROPOSALS (CUMBRIA COUNTY 
COUNCIL) 2020/2021

To consider a report by the Director of Finance (Cumbria County 
Council) (copy enclosed).
(Pages 77 - 80)

9  UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS

To consider a report from the Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County 
Council) (copy enclosed).
(Pages 81 - 82)

10  PANEL UPDATE REPORT

To consider the Panel Briefing from the Senior Manager – Policy 
and Scrutiny (Cumbria County Council) (copy enclosed).
(Pages 83 - 88)

11  DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Panel will be held on Friday 22 May 2020 
at 10.30 am in the Large Conference Room, Barrow Police 
Station, Andrews Way, Barrow-in-Furness, LA14 2UE.
 

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - if you wish to 
inspect Minutes or Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have 
any other general queries about the meeting, please contact:

Lynn Harker, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Cumbria House, 
117 Botchergate, Carlisle, Cumbria CA1 1RD

Telephone Nos: 01228 226364 / 07825340229



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Police and Crime Panel held on 
Monday, 14 October 2019 at 10.30 am at Control Room, Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue HQ, Carleton Avenue, Penrith, CA10 2FA.

PRESENT:

Mr W McEwan (Cumbria County Council) (Chair)

Mr RK Bingham, Cumbria County Council
Mrs J Cooke, Independent Co-opted Member
Ms G Dinsdale, Copeland Borough Council
Miss HJ Fearon, Cumbria County Council (Vice-Chair)
Mr KR Hamilton, Barrow Borough Council
Ms D Holden, Eden District Council
Mr MA Johnson, Cumbria County Council
Mr P McSweeney, South Lakeland District Council
Mr K Meller, Carlisle City Council
Miss L Vance, Independent Co-opted Member

Also in Attendance:-

Mr H Cox - Policy and Scrutiny Officer
Ms F Daley - Chair - Joint Audit Committee
Mr T Gale - Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer
Mrs L Harker - Senior Democratic Services Officer
Mr R Marshall - Joint Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner
Mr P McCall - Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)
Mrs G Shearer - Deputy Chief Executive - Office of the Police and 

Crime Commissioner
Mr B Spencer - Group Solicitor/Deputy Monitoring Officer
Ms V Stafford - Chief Executive, Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN 
THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 

PRESS

15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Ms M Bellis and Mr A Kirkbride.

5

Agenda Item 5



16 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Ms L Vance declared a personal interest in agenda item 8 – Support for 
Victims (minute 22 refers) as she was a Trustee of Safety Net.

17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the 
meeting for any items of business on this occasion.

18 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no items of public participation to be considered at this 
meeting.

19 MINUTES

With reference to minute 10 – Serious Violence and County Lines the 
following amendments were agreed:-

(1) The reference to ‘Board’ at the top of page 11 should read ‘Panel’

(2) ‘Public Accountability Committee’ at the top of page 11 should read 
‘Public Accounts Committee (Select Committee of the House of 
Commons)’.

RESOLVED, that with the inclusion of the above amendments the 
minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2019 be confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

20 JOINT AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

The Panel received the Joint Audit Committee (JAC) Annual Report 
2018/19.

Members were informed that during the 2018/19 financial year, 
Committee members had considered over 91 reports covering matters of 
governance including 18 internal audit reviews and the Commissioner 
and Chief Constable’s Statement of Accounts. 

It was explained that work included undertaking a substantive review of 
key elements of the governance framework, challenging and monitoring 
the approach to risk management, making key recommendations 

6



regarding its improvement and scrutinising the effectiveness of 
arrangements to secure value for money.  Members noted that in 
addition the Committee had continued to consider the assurance 
arrangements following the introduction of the Joint Chief Finance Officer 
and had made a number of recommendations to ensure a robust 
approach to assessing the ongoing effectiveness of the arrangement. 

The Panel was informed that the annual review had concluded that the 
Committee met the CIPFA criteria for being highly effective.  

Members noted that for 2019/20 the Committee had prepared an action 
plan to help ensure that the work of the Committee was proactive in 
focusing on new and emerging issues of governance.  It was explained 
this would look to support and monitor the OPCC and Constabulary plans 
to address the increasingly stringent funding environment; support and 
challenge any new governance arrangements, for example, from 
restructuring and capacity reviews, greater collaboration with other 
organisations or joint working on delivery of services; improve the 
Committee’s awareness of the work of the Police and Crime Panel and the 
Ethics and Integrity Panel where appropriate, and improve the 
Committee’s strategic awareness of the Police and Crime Plan.

A Member raised a question regarding the audit process for the use of 
stingers.  The Panel was informed that this would be an internal audit 
which would be followed up by the JAC.

Whilst the Panel agreed there was a need to have a clear understanding 
of JAC’s remit it was felt there was not a need to receive specific details 
of their work acknowledging a need for clear demarcation lines between 
the role of JAC and the Panel.  It was suggested that in future members 
be provided with the report but that this did not form part of Panel 
meetings.

RESOLVED, that the report be noted.

21 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING - QUARTER 1

a Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20

The Panel received a report from Cumbria Constabulary which provided 
details of the Constabulary’s Revenue budget monitoring 2019/20 
forecast for Quarter 1 as at 30 June 2019.

Members were informed that the current forecast of net expenditure 
amounted to £121.243m compared to a revised budget of £121.258m.  It 
was explained that the variance amounted to a forecast underspend of 
£15k (0.01%) and was made up of a forecast overspend on expenditure 

7



budgets of £97k (0.08%) an increase in income of £112k (1.69%).  The 
budget had been adjusted to reflect an agreed reduction in the planned 
drawdown from the budget support reserve in 2019/20.

The Panel was informed that the forecast Constabulary underspend was 
due to a number of factors across several different headings.  It was 
explained that one of the reasons for the underspend on police pay was 
due to an increase in the number of officers who had decided to opt out 
of the police pension schemes.  Members were informed that the Chief 
Constable had expressed concerns regarding the number of officers 
opting out of the scheme and had provided advice on this.

The Panel drew attention to the Government’s decision to recruit an 
additional 20,000 police officers over the next three years and asked 
whether the full on-costs had been taken into account.  The Joint Chief 
Finance Officer (OPCC) confirmed that he was confident the model which 
had been submitted to the Treasury and Home Office included all of the 
on-costs.

The Commissioner welcomed the additional officers and informed 
members it was anticipated Cumbria would receive approximately 140 
over the three year period.  He explained additional officers were 
allocated on the current funding formula and that Cumbria would receive 
51 police officers in the first year.  Members were informed that the 
number of officers for the following two years was uncertain but every 
effort would be made to secure more funding in the future for as many 
additional officers as possible.  The Panel welcomed the additional 
workforce and offered their support in securing funding.

The Panel was provided with an update regarding the recruitment 
process.  Whilst the challenges around the Police Education Qualification 
Framework was highlighted members were informed that Cumbria was 
the first county to have recruited nine of the additional police officers due 
to an intake of resources six weeks ago.  It was explained recruitment 
had been successful and further officers would be joining the Force in the 
near future.

During the course of discussion a concern was raised regarding policing in 
the rural areas and it was confirmed that this was taking place.

Members highlighted the increased powers of all police forces to stop and 
search and it was confirmed this was having a positive impact.

8



The Panel welcomed the report noting that the funding position was still 
evolving and would be reflected in future budget reports.

RESOLVED, that the Constabulary’s Revenue budget monitoring 
2019/20 forecast for Quarter 1 as at 30 June 2019 be 
noted.

b Commissioner's Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20

The Panel considered a report by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner which provided the Commissioner’s Revenue Budget 
Monitoring 2019/20 forecast as at 30 June 2019.

Members noted that the current forecast of net expenditure amounted to 
£103.797m compared to a revised budget of £103.742m.  It was 
explained that the variance amounted to a forecast overspend of £55k 
(0.05%) and was made up of a forecast underspend of £15k (0.01%) in 
respect of Constabulary budget and a forecast overspend of £70k 
(0.40%) on budgets managed by the Commissioner. 

The Panel was informed that the financial position would be affected by 
the Government’s decision to recruit an additional 20,000 officers 
nationally, which was announced post production of the report.  It was 
explained that the costs of recruitment and funding position for the 
additional officers were still evolving and would be outlined in future 
financial reports to the Panel. 

RESOLVED, that the Commissioner’s Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2019/20 forecast as at 30 June 2019 be noted.

22 SUPPORT FOR VICTIMS

The Panel considered a detailed report by the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) which summarised the Commissioner’s work 
in relation to support for victims of crime and abuse.  Members also 
received information regarding commissioning of victim services, sought 
the views of people affected by crime and holding to account of the 
Constabulary on how they dealt with victims.

The Panel’s attention was drawn to the Quality Assessment Framework 
which had found that some victims were not being offered the chance to 
make a Victim Personal Statement (VPS) which affords victims the 
opportunity to be heard in the criminal justice process.  It was explained 
that a low update of this provision had been recognised nationally, 
therefore, a Task and Finish Group had been developed to review and 
address the issues identified and members were informed of the key 
actions undertaken to improve compliance.  

9



Members were informed that work was ongoing with the Constabulary’s 
‘Red Sigma’ project team to ensure there was a mandatory action in the 
new Red Sigma Crime Management System, to prompt officers to 
ascertain whether victims would like to give a VPS where relevant.  

The Panel noted that the Victims’ Advocate in the OPCC had attended all 
initial police officer training, raising awareness of the importance of a VPS 
and their impact.  It was explained that a VPS briefing document had also 
been developed and circulated amongst criminal justice agencies drawing 
upon national guidance.

It was explained the uptake of VPS would continue to be monitored 
through the Quality Assessment Framework to ensure the work 
undertaken had improved the situation.

The Panel was given an update on the ‘Community Trigger’ which 
enabled victims to hold their local agencies to account.  Members were 
informed the OPCC had requested the Constabulary to review the 
arrangements in place across Cumbria, linking in with relevant agencies 
to ensure there was a standardised and transparent process and 
everyone was aware of their statutory responsibilities.

Members were informed that during 2018-19 the OPCC had worked with 
partner agencies, in particular Cumbria County Council, to commission a 
new integrated support service for victims of crime and abuse.  It was 
explained that the service, which was provided by Victim Support 
Cumbria, had been developed in response to feedback from victims 
regarding improving their journey to obtain support after a crime.

The Panel noted that the service was available across the county for 
children, young people and all adults, whether or not they had reported 
to the police and for any type of crime.  Members were informed that the 
service included an out of office hours support through the national 24/7 
Support Line and a new Live Chat facility provided by local staff via the 
Victim Support website.  It was explained that the uptake of the Live 
Chat service had been positive.

During the course of discussion concerns were raised regarding the 
availability of the Live Chat facility for victims who had no web access.  
Whilst officers appreciated this concern they assured the Panel that 
victims of crime did have personal contact with a police officer who would 
offer appropriate support.

The Panel raised their concerns regarding the lack of signposting to 
support available for victims, therefore, making it difficult for them to 
seek help.  It was suggested that a map be made available indicating 
what support was available in each area of the county.   

10



The Panel was informed that in terms of commissioning the service, the 
OPCC worked closely with partners through Safer Cumbria and as a joint 
funder, Cumbria County Council was heavily involved with this.  Members 
raised their lack of awareness of the involvement of Cumbria County 
Council and suggested that information on future joint working should be 
made available.

Whilst members welcomed the report the Panel also noted that in 
addition to receiving specific assurances from the Commissioner’s Office 
papers containing updates and general information were essential for 
them to maintain their understanding of key policing issues in the county.

RESOLVED, that the Commissioner’s work to put victims first be noted.

23 UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS

The Panel considered a report by the Monitoring Officer which advised 
members of any complaints received in accordance with the Panel’s 
Complaints Procedure.  The report outlined where appropriate, what, if 
any, action had been taken in respect of the complaints.

Members were informed that as at the date of the report there were no 
ongoing complaints.

RESOLVED, that the report be noted.

24 PANEL UPDATE REPORT

Members received a report which provide an update on key issues and 
developments that had occurred since the last meeting of the Panel.  It 
included progress on actions agree at the July meeting, National Policy 
Developments and the Panel’s Work Programme.

The Panel held a detailed discussion regarding the use of tasers by police 
officers.  The Commissioner explained to members that the protection of 
officers and crime prevention was paramount and felt that tasers would 
assist.  He highlighted to members that the use of them was an 
operational decision and was the responsibility of the Chief Constable.  
He explained that an assessment was being undertaken across the Force 
to determine where they would be most beneficial.  

11



During the course of discussion concerns were raised regarding the 
deployment of tasers and negative effect this could have on the public.  
It was felt that a better environment should be encouraged to avoid the 
necessity for them.  It was confirmed that tasers were deployed very 
rarely and were mainly used as a deterrent.  

A concern was raised regarding the lack of youth facilities in the Barrow 
area which had attributed to an increase in anti-social behaviour.  The 
Commissioner confirmed that he would support youth organisations to 
investigate new initiatives in the area.  The local members for Barrow 
invited the Commissioner to future meetings of the Youth Action Zone in 
their area.

Members suggested that following recruitment of the extra police officers 
consideration be given to establishing neighbourhood policing teams.

A discussion took place regarding venues for future meetings and it was 
suggested that community centres be considered.

The Panel asked that the Commissioner send a letter of thanks and 
appreciation to Inspector Jim Bailey for his involvement with the British 
Legion parade in Barrow.  

The Panel congratulated the Commissioner on his recent appointment as 
the Honorary Colonel of Cumbria Army Cadet Force.

RESOLVED, that 

(1) the report be noted;

(2) the future work programme include the following 
topics for discussion as soon as possible:-

 Out of Court Disposal
 Unseen Policing.

25 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

It was noted that the next meeting of the Panel would be held on 
Tuesday 28 January 2020 at 10.30 am in the Gunson Meeting Room, 
Ingwell Hall, Westlakes Science Park, Moor Row, Cumbria.

The meeting ended at 11.44 am

12



  Constabulary 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 

 

Constabulary Summary at September 2019 

The current forecast of net expenditure amounts to £122.307m compared to a revised budget of £122.019m.  The 

variance amounts to a forecast overspend of £288k (0.24%). The forecast overspend represents an increase of £303k 

compared with the underspend of £15k reported as at the end of June 2019.   

Overall core expenditure remains broadly in line with the budget. The increase in forecast expenditure is principally  

in relation to additional police officer recruitment in response to the government’s proposed increase in police officer 

number (Operation Uplift) and assumptions regarding accompanying central funding to meet these additional costs.  

 

Current Forecast 

Operation Uplift 

In relation to the Government’s pledge to recruit an additional 20,000 officers nationally, known as Operation Uplift, 

forces have been requested to commence the recruitment of officers as quickly as possible to ensure that the 

Government’s target of recruiting the additional officers by the end of 2022/23 is achieved.  This report includes £989k 

of expenditure currently expected to be incurred in 2019/20 to service Operation Uplift and includes the direct costs 

of the additional officers in relation to pay, uniform and equipment, recruitment costs and enabling police staff posts, 

Description Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Change

Budget Expenditure

/ (Income)

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

from      

JUN-19

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 @ JUN-19 to SEP-19

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Constabulary Funding

Police Officers 86,077 86,494 417 0.48% 24 393

Police Community Support Officers 2,738 2,581 (157) -5.73% 64 (221)

Police Staff 22,564 22,515 (49) -0.22% (123) 74

Other Employee Budgets 1,704 1,806 102 5.99% 5 97

Transport Related Expenditure 2,294 2,314 20 0.87% (12) 32

Supplies & Services 11,001 11,555 554 5.04% 115 439

Third Party Related Expenses 2,253 2,225 (28) -1.24% 24 (52)

Total Constabulary Funding 128,631 129,490 859 0.67% 97 762

Income (6,612) (6,641) (29) 0.44% (112) 83

Total Constabulary Funding Net of Income 122,019 122,849 830 0.68% (15) 845

Op Uplift Funding Assumptions 0 (542) (542) 0.00% 0 (542)

Adjusted Constabulary Funding 122,019 122,307 288 0.24% (15) 303

13

Agenda Item 6a



  Constabulary 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 

 

such as trainers.  The Home Office has given Cumbria a target of recruiting an additional 51 officers by March 2021, 

which is expected to be substantially achieved by March 2020. 

 

Whilst funding for Operation Uplift has been promised and included in the Chancellor’s spending round, details of the 

level and timing of funding at a force level has still to be announced.  The report assumes that funding of £542k will 

be received. This is based on re-imbursement of officer salary costs on a pro-rata basis in proportion to the 

Government’s target number of officers and an assumption that all indirect costs, except accommodation, will be met 

in accordance with the Home Office funding model. 

 

Appendix A provides a graphical presentation of planned intakes of police officers included in the above assumptions, 

which shows the expected increase in officer numbers.   

 

Detailed Budget Lines  

Explanations for significant variances highlighted in the table above are as follows: 

 

Police Officer Pay - the police officer budget is forecast to overspend by £417k, this is largely attributable to Operation 

Uplift above, although there are other minor variances arising from a combination of increased overtime, a lower than 

anticipated pay award and more officers than expected electing not to be members of the police pension scheme. 

 

PCSO Pay - the PCSO budget is forecast to underspend by £157k.  This is due to an increase in the number of forecast 

leavers to become officers and the removal of the planned PCSO intake in March 2020, to allow the recruitment and 

training teams to focus on bringing additional police officers in response to Operation Uplift. 

 

Police Staff pay - is forecast to underspend by £49k.  The underspend on police staff has arisen as a result of the 

assumptions made with regard to when vacant posts are expected to be filled and a forecast increase in response to 

additional posts created as part of Operation Uplift to support the recruitment of police officers.   

 

Other employee expenses budget - is forecasted to overspend by £102k.  This is largely as a result of assumptions 

made with regards to recruitment and welfare costs associated with operation uplift and other additional recruitment 

and welfare costs. 

 

Supplies and services – are showing an overall forecast overspend of £554k.  This is principally as a result of increased 

expenditure on training accommodation (partly as a result of operation uplift and partly as a result in a forecast delay 

14



  Constabulary 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 

 

in when the new accommodation hostels at the Eden Deployment Centre will become available) and ICT, offset by 

efficiency savings and reduced expenditure on custody medical services and forensics.    

 

Potential Risk Areas 

At this time the funding position of Operation Uplift remains uncertain.  There are risks both in relation to the quantum 

and the timing of the funding, including over whether it will be received in 2019/20 or 2020/21, which has the potential 

to impact on the final outturn position.  

 

15



  Constabulary 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 

 

Appendix A – Proposed WFP Model 2019-20 in Response to Operation Uplift 

 

 

16



  PCC Revenue 
Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 
PCC Budget Summary at September 2019 

The current forecast of net expenditure amounts to £104.109m compared to a revised budget of £103.742m.  The 

variance amounts to a forecast overspend of £372k (0.35%).   

 

OPCC Budgets 

The forecast underspend on the Commissioner’s own office budget arises principally as a result of underspends on 

staff in the office of the PCC (£24k).   

In respect of other budgets managed by the Commissioner, the forecast overspend arises as a result of a combination 

of a slight overspend on premises costs, a change in how capital expenditure is financed and lower than budgeted  

investment income.  

 

Constabulary Budgets 

The forecast Constabulary net overspend after taking into account assumed funding is £288k as at the end of 

September. The forecast constabulary overspend is principally as a result of the additional expenditure resulting from 

the Constabulary’s response to the Government’s pledge to recruit an additional 20,000 officers nationally, known as 

Operation Uplift.  Forces have been requested to commence the recruitment of officers as quickly as possible to ensure 

that the Government’s target of recruiting the additional officers by the end of 2022/23 is achieved.   

This report includes £989k of expenditure currently expected to be incurred in 2019/20 to service Operation Uplift 

and includes the direct costs of the additional officers in relation to pay, uniform and equipment, recruitment costs 

and enabling police staff posts such as trainers.  The Home Office has given Cumbria a target of recruiting an additional 

51 officers by March 2021, which is expected to be substantially achieved by March 2020. 

Description Revised Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Change in

Budget Expenditure 

/ (Income

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

(Under)/

Overspend

Forecast 

JUN-19 to

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 @ JUN-19 SEP-19

£'000s £'000s £'000s % £'000s £'000s

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 757 733 (24) (3.17%) (21) (3)

Other PCC Budgets (13,548) (13,445) 103 (0.76%) 91 12

Movements To / (From) Reserves (5,486) (5,486) 0 0.00% 0 0

Total OPCC Budgets (18,277) (18,198) 79 (0.43%) 70 9

Funding Provided to the Constabulary 122,019 122,849 830 0.68% (15) 845

Op Uplift Funding Assumptions 0 (542) (542) 0.00% 0 (542)

Net Expenditure 103,742 104,109 367 0.35% 55 312

External Funding (103,742) (103,737) 5 (0.00%) 0 5

Total 0 372 372 55 317

17

Agenda Item 6b



  PCC Revenue 
Budget Monitoring 2019/20
Forecast as at 30 September 2019 to Police & Crime Panel 11 February 2020
 
Whilst funding for Operation Uplift has been promised and included in the Chancellor’s spending round, details of the 

level and timing of funding at a force level has still to be announced.  The report assumes that funding of £542k will 

be received based on re-imbursement of officer salary costs on a pro-rata basis in proportion to the Government’s 

target number of officers and that all indirect costs, except accommodation, will be met in accordance with the Home 

Office funding model. 

Forecast underspends on PCSO and staff pay offset some of these additional costs. 

 

External Funding – the variance in relation to external funding represents a contribution to district councils in relation 

to care leavers discount, which is a discount on council tax provided to young people when they leave care and start 

to live independently. 

 

Police Property Act 

At 30 September 2019 the balance on the Police Property Act fund was £70k.  In September 2019, awards totalling 

£7k were made from the fund.  Full details of the awards made are available on the PCC website at https://cumbria-

pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/  

18

https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/
https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/funding/successful-applicantsgrant-agreements/


Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

Cumbria Constabulary: 2019 HMICFRS Value for Money Profiles’ Analysis 

 
The high level analysis in the table on pages 3 to 5 relates to the 2019 Value for Money Profiles 

which were published on their website by Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and Fire and 

Rescue Services (HMICFRS) in December 2019.   The profiles compare the forces within Cumbria’s 

Most Similar Group (MSG) and these are Lincolnshire, Norfolk and North Wales.  The aim of the 

profiles is to compare performance and the costs of achieving that performance.    

 

It is important to recognise that the VFM Profiles in themselves have limitations and that they 

require more detailed investigation before they can be safely used as basis for decision making.  In 

particular the profiles focus on costs per head of population, which tends to show Cumbria as 

relatively expensive across all services due to its low resident population – it should be noted that 

the impact of increased population due to tourism is not taken into account.   

 

In addition, caution needs to be exercised in ensuring that costs and categorisations give a true 

comparison on a like for like basis, as forces can - and do - budget in different ways and there may 

be an element of subjectivity with regard to allocating costs.   A national programme of work has 

started recently, in which the Joint PCC and Constabulary CFO is involved.  The work is investigating 

this ways in which the data can be collected and categorised more objectively, and therefore provide 

a more realistic comparison of cost across forces.    

 

The high level analysis only covers areas of service where Cumbria has been identified as an outlier 

compared with its peer group - that is, where the Constabulary performs less well and services are, 

or appear to be, more expensive based on the criteria used in the profiles. 

 

An outlier is defined as being in the top or bottom 10% and where the effect of the difference is 

greater than £1 per head of population.   

The 2019 profiles show that the areas identified as being significantly above the all forces or MSG 

average cost are the same this year as they have been in previous years and this has consistently 

been the case across the period since value for money profiles were first introduced. 

 

Important general points about the VfM profiles 

 

 Cumbria is a demographic outlier when comparing it to its MSG and this will continue to be the 

case, regardless of any VfM comparators.  Cumbria’s geography, topography and socio-

economic environment are unique and there are fixed costs associated with this regardless of 

other comparisons.   

 Population is the main determinant used in the profiles for assessing value for money – that is, 

cost per head.  This significantly disadvantages Cumbria, which has the lowest population of 42 

19

Agenda Item 7a



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

forces (excluding City of London), is the fourth largest covering 2,613 square miles, is sparsely 

populated, is classified as 98% rural, and is geographically isolated.  The additional cost of 

delivering services in this physical geography is not taken into account.   

 The sparsity of the population, the rural nature of the county and the isolated geographic 

location of the county in England, results in higher costs to deliver police services compared to 

other forces and, limits opportunities for cost effective collaborations with other forces for 

specialist operational services or private companies to provide services.  As a result, Cumbria 

Constabulary requires more people and more equipment to deliver a police service to a small 

population distributed over a large area. 

 

As a result, all of these factors combine to incur additional fixed costs in policing the county, 

irrespective of how and by whom police services are provided, and regardless of policy or strategy 

decisions made by senior management. 

 
The table overleaf shows where the profiles show Cumbria as an outlier, provides an explanation or 

context and identifies any actions being taken by the Constabulary as a result.

20



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

Note that the comparisons exclude Metropolitan  Police Service (the largest force) and the City of London Police Service (the smallest force) are excluded as their sizes and 

specialist functions can skew the analysis. 

VfM Category 
Cumbria Data 

Value of difference  
compared to all forces   

Context and/or Explanation 
Note of any action 

being taken 

Central costs: 
Non staff costs – revenue contribution to 
capital   

£5.4m 
1/4 MSG    
1/40 All 

This is to finance the Constabulary’s current capital expenditure programme 
which includes significant investment in ICT.  
Capital expenditure is reviewed annually as part of planning and budget setting. 

 

Local policing  
 

Incident/response police 
officer costs 
£10.7m 
2/4 
2/40 

This is a new outlier.  In previous years the Constabulary has been an outlier in 
neighbourhood policing because all response/patrol officers were all declared as 
neighbourhood officers in the data return.  This approach was changed for last 
year’s return and reflects the external cost drivers of policing the county 
identified earlier in this paper. 
This category  includes local investigation (i.e. CID). Our CID is multifunctional 
and includes a large element of safeguarding, which enables us to prioritise 
investigations to threat risk and harm – these are our Crime and Safeguarding 
Teams (CAST) based in local areas.    The profiles show that we are below the 
10% difference for local investigation for police officer costs (minus £3.1m).   
The category also includes PCSO costs where we are identified as an outlier  
(value of difference is plus £23k)  

Accounted  for in  the 
resource allocation 
process for 2019/20; it 
was identified that local 
investigation required 
additional officers to meet 
demand – this is being 
addressed through a 
planned programme of 
increasing detectives’ 
numbers within the 
CASTs.  

Dealing with the public 
 

Central Communications 
(CCR) police officer costs 
£3.2m 
1/4       
1/40 

This reflects the changes made in Command and Control where the Constabulary 
made a conscious decision to operate with officers rather than police staff.  This 
has reduced demand on frontline by 40%- delivering best use of resources by 
using officer knowledge and expertise at the start of the   process, resolving the 
public’s issues as early as possible and providing the best advice and 
information- with an aim to increase this further.   The Constabulary would not 
be able to accommodate the demand if we put all these officers back on shift, as 
their impact would be diluted. The benefits from the new Command and Control 
system will make this function much more efficient and impact on the cost base.  

IT replacement 
programme and review of 
processes and structures 
underway 

Front Desks 
£0.2m 
1/4       
4/40 

This is a cost directly associated with the large geography of the county and the 
current arrangements for public access 

- 

21



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

VfM Category 
Cumbria Data 

Value of difference  
compared to all forces   

Context and/or Explanation 
Note of any action 

being taken 

Criminal justice arrangements 
 
 

Custody police officer costs  
£1m 
1/4  
2/40 

Cumbria has the highest cost of police doctors/nurses and surgeons in the 
country. – this is a contracted out service which is being closely managed.  See 
points in the earlier part of this paper  
Custody function is  subject to a change review 
 

A review of custody has 
been undertaken during 
2019, with results being 
considered by chief 
officers in the context of 
Operation Uplift (the 
national increase in the 
number of police officers) 

Police doctors, nurses & 
surgeons 
£0.86m 
1/4       
1/40 

Roads policing Traffic Units police officer 
costs 
£2.14m 
1/4        
1/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created 
in 2011.  Although these costs are the 2nd highest in the country please note that 
the comparison is not like for like.  Cumbria Roads Policing includes the Armed 
Response Vehicle, because officers are multi-skilled and perform a dual role.  
Other forces have these as separate units and firearms are categorised as 
Operational Support. 
 
Advanced public order is also a multi skilled function and includes our secondary 
firearms response.  
 
 

- 

Operational support Firearms Unit police officer 
costs 
£-1.68m 
4/4       
40/40 

Advanced public order 
police officer costs 
£0.79m 
1/4       
4/40 

Public protection 
 

 

Police officer cost 
£0.68m 
1/4       
4/40 

The profiles are not flexible enough to account for our CASTs which skews the 
comparison (as described in local policing section).  We carried out  some 
significant demand work during 2018/19 and the number of resources available 
for public protection increased as a result of our evidence based reallocation 
decisions. 

Already accounted for in 
our resource allocation 
process 

 

DA, DAO and IDVA police 
officer costs 
£0.98m 
1/4       
4/40 

22



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

VfM Category 
Cumbria Data 

Value of difference  
compared to all forces   

Context and/or Explanation 
Note of any action 

being taken 

MASH police officer costs 
£0.45m 
1/4       
4/40 
 

Intelligence  Intelligence analysis 
£0.63m 
1/4       
14/40 

This reflects the increasing demand and complexity of policing operations and 
cases requiring detailed analysis of digital and other data. 

- 

Support functions  
 
Cumbria has been an outlier in this 
category since VfM profiles were first 
created in 2011.  It should be 
remembered that the All and MSG 
averages are not comparing like for like.  
For example, Lincolnshire has outsourced 
its business support and operational 
support functions. 
 

ICT Staff costs and non 
employment costs 
£4m 
1/4       
1/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created 
in 2011.  Some of our ICT fixed costs will be higher than other forces, as already 
described in the first section of this report.  
The Constabulary has now focused on benefits delivery to drive out efficiencies 
and has a digital policing target operating model to deliver increased 
effectiveness and productivity.    

 Ongoing Business 
Transformation 
Programme with 
targeted savings of 
£600,000 per annum 
over the next 3 years 

 Revised benefits work 
being undertaken for 
driving out savings 
and productivity gains 
from IT deployed  

 Review of 
information 
management and 
data quality 
improvement plan 
being delivered to 
reduce digital storage    
costs over the longer 
term 

 Rebasing of fleet and 
estate strategies  to 

Fleet services non 
employment costs  
£0.72m 
1/4       
4/40 

Cumbria has been an outlier in this category since VfM profiles were first created 
in 2011.  The cost of fleet provision and associated transport costs are high in 
Cumbria due to the size, geography and topography of the county. In addition, 
the LSE with HMIC has undertaken some work about factors that provide 
challenges for policing.  This identifies that Cumbria’s average travel times are 
70% more than the national average. 

Training police officer costs  
£0.7m 
1/4       
3640 

This was a new outlier in 2018 profiles and remains this year.  The Constabulary 
has invested in its own function to ensure that staff and officers have the skills to 
deliver the best service for the public.  In addition,  the force has increased its 
rate of police officer recruitment which has required  additional trainer resource 
– this will continue because of Operation Uplift  

Performance review police 
officer costs 
£0.9m 
1/4    
1/40 

Increased performance review costs reflect the investment in the Business 
Improvement Unit to drive up quality and reduce reworking costs, the  change 
team  to deliver savings required and in IMS staff to meet demand and deliver 
the Business Intelligence Project.   
Non police officer costs are significantly less (-£192k) 

23



Police and Crime Panel Report on Constabulary Value For Money Profiles 2019 
 

VfM Category 
Cumbria Data 

Value of difference  
compared to all forces   

Context and/or Explanation 
Note of any action 

being taken 

Finance staff costs 
£0.4m 
1/4    
1/40 
 

This is a new outlier, which will be investigated as arrangements have not 
changed in the last year. Costs were reduced in 2017/18, following the move to a 
Joint Chief Finance Officer.  

reduce overheads  
(annual process)  

 Business intelligence 
Project to reduce 
performance and 
intelligence cost base 
in the next 4 years , 
plus other savings 

 

24



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Cumbria Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 
 

Title: Revenue Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Forecast (MTFF) 
 
Police and Crime Panel: 7 February 2020

 

 
Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer  

Originating Officers:    Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer and  

   Mark Carter, Financial Services Manager  

 

1. Introduction 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide a detailed analysis of the figures contained within the 

revenue budget for 2020/21 and the MTFF to 2023/24. 

 

1.2. The report provides more detailed analysis of the budgets for 2020/21 together with comparative 

information from the 2019/20 approved budget. 

 

1.3. The report also provides additional information in respect of the more unusual aspects of the 

budget and explanations where the budgets have changed significantly between the years. 

 

1.4. The overall revenue budget and MTFF position is summarised in Appendix A.   Further analysis is 

provided in supporting appendices (B and C) which are cross referenced from the main appendix. 

25

Agenda Item 7b



 

 

 

Appendix A 
 

Revenue Budget & Medium Term Financial Forecast to 2023/24 

 

 
Note 1 –More information on reserves will be provided to the February meeting of the Police and Crime 

Panel as part of the precept proposal report (see agenda item 07e).   

 

Note 2 – The funding settlement for formula funding was announced on 22 January 2020.  The funding 

allocated for 2020/21 included a 7.57% increase on 2019/20 levels, this increase provided is to provide 

funding for the additional police officers and ancillary costs to be provided as part of the Governments 

increase known as “operation uplift”.  The funding settlement provided for 2020/21 was again a ‘one 

year’ settlement, it is anticipated that during 2020/21 a comprehensive spending review will be carried 

out and this will inform grant levels for future years.  At this stage, it has been assumed that the core 

funding figure included in the draft settlement for 2020/21 will continue to be maintained on a flat cash 

basis for the remainder of the MTFF.   

 

Note 3 – The council tax figures assume that the council tax base will increase by 0.75% per annum.  The 

figures also assume council tax precept rises of £8.91 (3.47%) per band D property for 2020/21 and then 

4% per annum (around £11 per annum) for the final 3 years of the MTFF, all of which are subject to 

consultation.    

  

Description Supporting 

Schedule

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'S

2023/24

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets Appendix B (15,174,468) (19,861,470) (19,718,789) (13,453,112) (15,747,730)

Constabulary Funding Appendix C 124,481,433 132,307,599 137,473,271 135,444,062 138,280,558

Movement to /(from) Revenue Reserves Note 1 (1,402,831) (846,646) (14,420) 68,206 6,386

Movement to /(from) Capital Reserves Note 1 (4,162,275) 0 (1,575,000) (2,425,000) 0

Net Expenditure 103,741,858 111,599,483 116,165,061 119,634,156 122,539,214

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding Note 2 (59,942,966) (65,829,188) (64,898,166) (67,002,866) (67,002,866)

Council Tax Note 3 (43,798,892) (45,770,294) (47,974,705) (50,255,926) (52,648,004)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 0 0 3,292,191 2,375,364 2,888,343

26



 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

Commissioner’s Budgets 

The Commissioner’s budgets include commissioned services and a number of other technical statutory 

accounting adjustments.  The budget can be analysed as follows: 

 

 
 
 
B1. Commissioner’s Office 

The budget for the Commissioner’s office includes funding for the Commissioner plus his office 

comprising of 12.7 FTEs.  The pay budget has been increased by pay inflation at 2.5% throughout the 

MTFF and the non-pay budgets in general have been subject to an increase of 2%. 

 

B2. Commissioned Services 

The commissioned services budget provides for the Commissioner’s statutory responsibilities across the 

areas of victim support, community safety and enhancing criminal justice.  It is funded by a combination 

of ministry of justice grants, successful Home Office innovation funding bids and base budget.  Following 

the devolution of responsibility for local provision of victim’s services from 2015/16, this budget now 

funds a full programme of commissioned services targeted at crime prevention and victim support.  This 

includes victims referral, independent domestic and sexual violence advisory and counselling services 

(including The Bridgeway), Turning the Spot Light Restorative Justice, perpetrator programmes e.g. 

Restorative Solutions and education programs including Chelsea’s Choice and Young Cumbria.   

  
 
 

 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'S

2023/24

£'s

Commissioner's Office B1 749,008 811,897 831,187 850,944 871,183

Commissioned Services B2 2,244,773 2,249,590 2,249,590 2,249,590 2,249,590

Premises Related Costs B3 4,310,486 4,452,921 4,558,171 4,666,436 4,779,821

Insurances B4 600,939 622,104 637,704 648,904 660,404

LGPS Past Service Cost B5 503,400 22,300 22,800 23,400 24,000

Provision for Insurance liability B6 105,500 105,500 105,500 105,500 105,500

Statutory Accounting Adjustments B7 360,721 89,023 89,023 89,023 89,023

Capital Financing B8 7,003,848 4,592,925 6,161,732 7,005,573 4,574,441

Grants & Contributions B9 (30,888,143) (32,667,730) (34,259,496) (28,977,482) (28,986,692)

Interest/investment Income B10 (165,000) (140,000) (115,000) (115,000) (115,000)

Total (15,174,468) (19,861,470) (19,718,789) (13,453,112) (15,747,730)

27



 

 

 

B3. Premises Related Costs 
The Commissioner is statutorily responsible for and owns the police estate.  The Chief Constable manages 

the estate on behalf of the Commissioner.  The estate is comprised of police headquarters at Carleton 

Hall, larger police stations which include custody facilities, smaller police stations and a small number of 

residual police houses.  The premises budget can be analysed as follows: 

 

 
 

 
Notes: 

This table provides a split of the premises budget by subjective heading.  A brief summary of items 

included within each heading is provided below. 

 

A. Property Repair & Maintenance includes both planned and reactive maintenance and grounds 

maintenance.  Property repair and maintenance costs are based on a schedule of planned 

maintenance and are showing a slight reduction compared with the budget set for 2019/20.   

B. Utilities includes gas, electricity, water and heating oil charges.  Costs are showing increased costs as 

a result of increases in contract prices which are currently being experienced.   

C. Rent and Rates includes business rates (NNDR), property leases, room hire charges and PFI occupancy 

charges for the PFI building at Workington.   

D. Cleaning and Domestic Supplies includes building cleaning, window cleaning, refuse collection and 

clinical waste collection services.  This increase in this category is largely as a result contract increases 

as a result of the impact of the living wage.   

E. Other Premises Costs include fire and security equipment maintenance, legal and valuation fees. 

 

 

 

 

  

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Property Repairs & Maintenance A 853,490 831,272 (22,218) -2.60%

Utilities B 1,098,683 1,121,856 23,173 2.11%

Rent & Rates C 1,684,193 1,723,270 39,077 2.32%

Cleaning & Domestic Supplies D 587,952 685,590 97,638 16.61%

Other Premises Costs E 86,168 90,933 4,765 5.53%

Total 4,310,486 4,452,921 142,435 3.30%

The Commissioner’s estate had an accounting value of £54m at 31/03/2019 

28



 

 

 

An analysis of premises budgets by category of premises is provided below: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

The chart below illustrates this graphically: 

 

 

 

The following page includes a split of the premises budget on a site by site basis.   

  

Description 2020/21 

Budget 

£

2020/21 

Budget 

%

Police HQ, Carleton Hall Penrith 1,344,348   30%

Larger Police Stations with Custody and 

Deployment Centres

2,433,769   55%

Smaller Police Stations 214,155      5%

Leased or Rented Premises 137,383      3%

Police Houses 607              0%

Misc/Other 322,659      7%

Total 4,452,921 100%

Police HQ, Carleton Hall 

Penrith, £1,344,348 , 
30%

Larger Police Stations 

with Custody and 
Deployment Centres, 

£2,433,769 , 55%

Smaller Police Stations, 

£214,155 , 5%

Leased or Rented 

Premises, £137,383 , 3%

Police Houses, £607 , 0%

Misc/Other, £322,659 , 

7%

This table provides a split of the 
premises budget by category of 
premises.  From the table and 
the chart below it can be seen 
that Police HQ and the 6 main 

deployment centres account for 
85% of the total budget.  The 

table overleaf provides a split of 
each category over individual 

premises. 

Police House – The PCC/Constabulary has one remaining police house in Kendal which is due to 
become surplus to requirements in 2021. 

29



 

 

 

Premises Related Expenditure Budget 2020/21 on Site by Site Basis  
 

  

Property Property 

Repairs & 

Maintenance 

Utilities Rent & 

Rates

Cleaning & 

Domestic 

Supplies

Other 

Premises 

Costs

Grand 

Total

Percentage 

of Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ %

Police HQ, Carleton Hall Penrith

Headquarters : Carleton Hall Penrith 353,067 518,899 240,017 215,924 16,441 1,344,348 30%

353,067 518,899 240,017 215,924 16,441 1,344,348 30%

Barrow : Andrews Way 59687 128067 176264 85657 2019 451,694 10%

Carlisle : Durranhill 66,093 176,802 307,332 101,388 2,263 653,878 15%

Leaning & Development Centre 26,000 76,000 84,000 64,000 0 250,000 6%

Kendal : Busher Walk 87,520 61,015 104,406 67,229 2,004 322,174 7%

Whitehaven : Scotch Street 57,250 39,286 54,180 25,281 1,043 177,040 4%

Workington : Hall Brow 14,050 469 558,669 5,795 0 578,983 13%

310,600 481,639 1,284,851 349,350 7,329 2,433,769 55%

Smaller Police Stations

Ambleside 1,798 3,326 3,795 1,174 106 10,199 0%

Appleby 9,027 11,266 6,991 7,853 159 35,296 1%

Brampton 25,600 11,024 7,554 9,416 159 53,753 1%

Cockermouth (Allerdale Rural) 10,865 12,237 16,230 8,806 1,114 49,252 1%

Kirkby Stephen 2,271 1,270 1,398 2,268 162 7,369 0%

Lake Road Hostel, Windermere 1,639 1,657 1,872 0 0 5,168 0%

Longtown 2,523 8,186 6,617 3,753 1,262 22,341 1%

Windermere 4,343 8,009 7,017 10,667 741 30,777 1%

58,066 56,975 51,474 43,937 3,703 214,155 5%

Leased or Rented Premises

Alston : The Topps 1,280 3,321 3,264 1,864 0 9,729 0%

Askham-in-Furness : Community Portacabin 0 940 310 0 0 1,250 0%

Carlisle : Shadygrove Road 1,182 6,154 11,380 4,017 275 23,008 1%

Dalton-in-Furness : Drill Hall 0 0 4,488 1,231 0 5,719 0%

Keswick Town Hall 0 0 3,846 0 0 3,846 0%

Millom : Network Centre 0 0 7,985 821 0 8,806 0%

Sedbergh : CIO 72 Main Street 273 0 2,448 0 0 2,721 0%

Specialist Services Accommodation 4,103 9,192 44,800 2,614 1,722 62,431 1%

Ulverston Business Centre Offices 0 0 11,713 0 0 11,713 0%

Wigton : Innovia Suite 0 0 8,160 0 0 8,160 0%

6,838 19,607 98,394 10,547 1,997 137,383 3%

Police Houses

16 Hillswood Avenue, Kendal (to 2021) 607 0 0 0 0 607 0%

607 0 0 0 0 607 0%

Misc/Other

Carlisle : Northern Traffic Unit 11,475 31,712 17,853 7,647 979 69,666 2%

Estate & Facilities - Forcewide 90,619 13,024 29,583 58,185 60,484 251,895 6%

Kendal Calling 0 0 1,098 0 0 1,098 0%

102,094 44,736 48,534 65,832 61,463 322,659 7%

Total 831,272 1,121,856 1,723,270 685,590 90,933 4,452,921 100%

Larger Police Stations with Custody and Deployment Centres

30



 

 

 

B4. Insurances 

During 2016/17 the Commissioner and Constabulary retendered and awarded long term agreements in 

respect of insurance which ran until 31 October 2019 with an option to extend for a further 2 years to 31 

October 2021 which has been exercised.  On an annual basis insurance policies are renewed based on 

current data.  The increase in premiums between 2019/20 and 2020/21 in the main reflects an increase 

in the motor premium applied by the insurer.   

 

B5. Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Past Service Cost 

For the LGPS (police staff and PCSOs) the PCC/Constabulary are required to pay past service contributions 

with the aim to reduce the pensions’ deficit over the next 13 years.  The amount paid is based on a 

calculation by the scheme actuary following an actuarial valuation of pension liabilities which is carried 

out on a three yearly basis.  The most recent valuation was undertaken on 31 March 2019 and has 

provided an increase in the contribution rates (from 15.4% to 18.4%) and a reduced deficit reduction 

payment, both of which take effect from 1 April 2020.  The next actuarial valuation will take place on 31 

March 2022 with any new rates becoming effective from 1 April 2023. 

 

B6. Provision for Insurance Liability 

The Commissioner makes an annual contribution to a provision for insurance liabilities.  The provision 

covers costs associated with claims below the insurance policy excess levels and is based on a biennial 

actuarial valuation of those liabilities.  The next review is due to take place in March 2020.    

 

B7. Statutory Accounting Adjustments 

Statutory accounting adjustments relate to the mechanism by which capital grants are received through 

the revenue budget and are then transferred to capital grants unapplied until these are utilised to fund 

the capital programme.  The capital grant received from the home office in 2019/20 amounted to £372k, 

the funding settlement for 2020/21 sees this figure reduced to £100k (a reduction of 73%). 

 

  

31



 

 

 

B8. Capital Financing 

Capital financing includes the following items: 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. The Commissioner makes annual contributions from the revenue budget to the funding of the capital 

programme.  The annual contribution is currently set at £3.4m for 2020/21 which represents a 

significant increase from 2019/20 when it was £1.7m.  The additional level of contributions are 

intended to make the capital programme sustainable over the medium term. Additional 

contributions from partner organisations for specific aspects of the capital programme (e.g. CCTV, 

Sellafield vehicles) are also included in this line.   

 

B. The Commissioner holds a number of reserves that have been earmarked for specific capital 

purposes.  When these are applied to fund the capital programme the mechanism is for these to be 

cycled through the revenue budget.  There is a corresponding opposite entry contained within the 

movements to/from reserves line.  The budget is showing no capital reserve drawdown for 2020/21 

as the majority of capital reserves have been fully utilised in 2019/20, the exception being the reserve 

for the west Cumbria estate which is scheduled to be used in 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

 
C. The Commissioner has an underlying need to borrow which is known as the Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR).  In order to ensure that budget proposals are prudent, the Commissioner is 

statutorily required to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  The MRP can be likened to making 

the minimum payment on a credit card.  

 
D. The Commissioner has a 25 year PFI agreement in respect of the West TPA HQ at Workington.  The 

arrangements for accounting mean that the interest element of the annual unitary change made by 

the PFI provider is treated as capital financing.  The PFI arrangement was entered into in 2001 and is 

due to expire in August 2026. 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Direct Revenue Contrbutions (DRC) A 1,771,608 3,424,299 1,652,691 93.29%

DRC - Use of Capital Reserves B 4,162,275 0 (4,162,275) -100.00%

Minimum Revenue Provision C 486,384 606,265 119,881 24.65%

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Interest D 583,581 562,361 (21,220) -3.64%

Total 7,003,848 4,592,925 (2,410,923) -34.42%

32



 

 

 

B9. Grants & Contributions 

The Commissioner receives a number of grants and contributions from central Government bodies and 

other partner organisations.  The majority of this income is in respect of the pensions top up grant 

received from the Home Office.  The table below provides an analysis of the budgeted income for 

2020/21 with comparatives for 2019/20. 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. This is the estimated amount that will be received from the Home Office in respect of the police 

Pensions Top-up grant.  As it represents grant funding it is shown in the grant income receivable by 

the Commissioner. 

 

The police officer pension scheme is an unfunded pension scheme which means that there are no 

assets held by the pension scheme to cover liabilities.  The constabulary operates a Pension Fund 

Account for police pensions into which contributions from current serving police officers are paid 

(contribution rates between 11% and 15.05%) together with contributions from the constabulary as 

employer (at 31%).  From this fund, pension payments to former police officers are made.  The net 

balance on this pension fund account is a deficit and the Commissioner receives a Pensions Top-up 

Grant from the Home Office to balance the fund.  The transfer of this grant to the police pension 

fund account is shown within the constabulary funding section below (see C2). 

 

B. In 2020/21 the Constabulary has received an additional grant of £1.2m to offset part of the increased 

costs of pensions.  For the purposes of financial planning, it has been assumed that this grant will 

continue for the remainder of the MTFF. 

 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Home Office - Police Pension Top Up A (22,915,000) (24,923,000) (2,008,000) 8.76%

Additional Pensions Grant B (1,200,000) (1,174,465) 25,535 -2.13%

Home Office - Other C (288,317) (349,626) (61,309) 21.26%

DCLG Grant - PFI Grant (687,708) (687,708) 0 0.00%

DCLG Grant - Council Tax Freeze Grant (857,812) (857,812) 0 0.00%

DCLG Grant - Council Tax Support Grant (3,991,947) (3,991,947) 0 0.00%

Ministry of Justice D (575,661) (583,172) (7,511) 1.30%

Home Office - Non Specific Capital Grant E (371,698) (100,000) 271,698 -73.10%

Total (30,888,143) (32,667,730) (1,779,587) 5.76%

33



 

 

 

C. The increase in Home Office Grant Other income reflects the increase in specific funding which 

offsets the additional cost of the Constabulary’s Disclosure and Barring Service.   

 

D. The Ministry of Justice grant is in respect of victims services including restorative justice.   

 
E. The Home Office Non Specific Capital Grant forms part of the annual funding settlement from the 

Home Office.  The figure for 2020/21 is £100k and represents a significant reduction on the amount 

received for 2019/20 of £372k. 

 
 

B10. Interest/Investment Income 

The Commissioner invests surplus funds until these are required to fund operational requirements with 

financial institutions in accordance with the investment strategy (approved in February each year as part 

of his Treasury Management Strategy).  The current forecast for investment income is based on the 

forecast sums available for investment and the most likely interest rate that will be achieved on those 

investments.  The forecast income is relatively low due to the historically low bank base rate which was 

increased in August 2018 to 0.75% from its previous level of 0.50% which was set in November 2017. 

 

  

 

 
 

  

Interst Rate 

Forecast

2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'S

2023/24

£'s

Quarter 1 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 2 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 3 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%

Quarter 4 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%

The reduction in forecast income 
during for future years reflects the 
assumed reduction as a result of a 

reduction in overall balances 
available for investment as capital 

reserves are depleted. 

 

34



 

 

 

Appendix C 

 

Constabulary Funding 

The largest portion of expenditure for the Commissioner (£138m in 2020/21) relates to funding provided 

to the Chief Constable by way of the funding arrangement.  The funding provided by the Commissioner 

is set out in the table below and is analysed into subjective headings.  More detailed analysis of the 

subjective headings is provided in the sections below (see C1-C10). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

2023/24

£'s

Police Officer - Pay & Allowances C1 63,979,207 67,504,354 69,640,508 71,886,082 73,548,987

Police Officer - Contribution to Pension Fund Account C2 22,915,000 24,923,000 26,506,000 21,215,000 21,215,000

Police Officer - Ill Health & Injury Pensions C3 1,211,319 1,246,534 1,271,465 1,296,895 1,322,833

Police Community Support Officers C4 2,738,236 2,272,442 3,494,714 3,562,082 3,631,135

Police Staff - Pay & Allowances C5 22,496,766 24,211,884 24,049,604 24,699,845 25,478,342

Other Employee Benefits C6 1,341,001 1,745,039 1,933,362 1,966,677 1,976,611

Transport Related Expenditure C7 2,292,794 2,453,549 2,524,137 2,597,347 2,673,157

Supplies & Services C8 10,529,007 11,082,701 11,101,536 11,323,567 11,550,039

Third Party Related Expenditure C9 2,188,724 2,178,139 2,221,702 2,266,137 2,311,460

Gross Constabulary Expenditure 129,692,054 137,617,643 142,743,028 140,813,632 143,707,564

Income C10 (5,210,621) (5,310,044) (5,269,757) (5,369,570) (5,427,006)

Net Constabulary Funding 124,481,433 132,307,599 137,473,271 135,444,062 138,280,558

Police Officer - Pay & 
Allowances, £67,504, 49%

Police Officer -
Contribution to Pension 
Fund Account, £24,923, 

18%

Police Officer - Ill 
Health & Injury 

Pensions, £1,247, 
1%

Police Community 
Support Officers, £2,272, 

2%

Police Staff - Pay & 
Allowances, £24,212, 18%

Other Employee Benefits, 
£1,745, 1%

Transport Related 
Expenditure, £2,454, 2%

Supplies & Services, 
£11,083, 8%

Third Party Related 
Expenditure, £2,178, 1%

Constabulary Gross Expenditure of £138m in 2020/21  
(figures in £000s) 

35



 

 

 

In overall terms expenditure has increased from £129.7m in 2019/20 to £137.8m in 2020/21, an increase 

of £8.1m.  Of the increase, £5.2m relates to increased police officer and police staff pay through a 

combination of increases in numbers as part of operation uplift and pay awards at a forecast 2.5%, police 

pensions £2m, with the balance being due to pay inflation /price inflation at around 2% per annum. 

 

C1. Police Officer Pay and Allowances 

Police officer pay and allowances account for the majority (49%) of the Constabulary budget.  The budget 

is based on the current workforce plan.  The budget for 2020/21 is based on a forecast 51 FTE increase 

in police officer numbers as part of operation uplift.  Members will recall that the establishment for police 

officers was previously increased by 25 officers in 2018/19 from 1120 to 1145 and then by 20 officers to 

1165 in 2019/20. The pay budgets for Police Officers assume a 2.5% pay award each September over the 

life of the MTFF. 

 

C2. Contribution to the Police Pension Fund Account 

The Police Officer pension scheme is an unfunded pension, scheme which means that there are no assets 

held by the pension scheme to cover liabilities.  The constabulary operates a Pension Fund Account for 

police pensions into which contributions from current serving police officers are paid (contribution rates 

between 11% and 15.05%) together with contributions from the constabulary as employer at 31%).  From 

this fund, pension payments to former police officers are made.  The net balance on this pension fund 

account is a deficit and the Commissioner receives a Pensions Top-up Grant from the Home Office to 

balance the fund.  This line within the constabulary budget reflects the constabulary’s contribution to the 

pension fund account to meet this deficit.  The grant itself is recorded within the Commissioner’s budgets 

(see Appendix B, line B10). 

 

  

36



 

 

 

C3. Ill Health & Injury Pensions 

The Constabulary has to meet the pension payments of police officers who have been required to be 

retired on an ill health or injury basis.  The budget is made up of two main elements:  

 Injury Allowance of £766k, this represents the initial lump sum and ongoing pension payments 

made to officers who have been retired as a result of an injury on duty.   

 Ill Health pension capital equivalent charge £481k.  When the constabulary is required, under 

police pension regulations, to retire an officer on ill health grounds, the constabulary has to meet 

a capital equivalent charge, this charge is equivalent to 2 years pay (approx. £80k).  The budget 

is based on the assumption that there will be six ill health retirements per year. 

 

All other pension payments are met by the Pension Fund Account (see above) which is funded from in 

year officer and employer contributions plus a top up grant from the Home Office. 

 

C4. Police Community Support Officers 

The budget for Police Community Support Officers accounts for 2% of the constabulary budget and is 

based on an establishment of 95 FTE posts.  The budget recognises that under the workforce plan 

numbers of PCSOs are likely to operate below the establishment as PCSOs leave to join the regulars.  The 

pay budgets for PCSOs assume a 2.5% pay award each September over the life of the MTFF. 

 

C5. Police Staff  

Police staff pay and allowances account for 18% of the Constabulary budget.   Police staff budgets are 

based on the current workforce plan.  The figures have increased between 2019/20 and 2020/21 through 

a combination of pay awards, annual increments and revised pension contributions following the  

tri-ennial revaluation of the Local Government Pension Scheme.  The pay budgets for Police Staff assume 

a 2.5% pay award each September over the life of the MTFF. There has also been a small increase in 

enabling police staff posts to support Operation Uplift. 

 
  

37



 

 

 

C6. Other Employee Benefits 

The other employee benefits budget covers a mix of individual budget lines.  These budgets have been 

subject to an inflationary increase of 2.0% in the main.  The proposed other employee benefits budget 

for 2020/21 and a comparison with that of 2019/20 is shown in the table below: 

 

 
Notes: 

A. The Temporary and Agency staff budget provides funding to cover the incremental cost associated 

with providing temporary resources to cover in instances of parental leave or long term sickness.  

 

B. The increase in respect of staff an officer recruitment costs reflects the increase in levels of 

recruitment forecast in 2020/21 in response to the Governments initiative to increase national police 

officer numbers by 20,000 which is known as ‘operation uplift’.   

 
C. The increase in staff welfare costs in 2020/21 again reflects increases in relation to operation uplift. 

Staff welfare costs include, counselling, physiotherapy, ergonomists and other medical fees and tests.   

 
D. Additional pension payments relate to historic pensions costs in respect of former employees who 

have retired early. 

 

E. The increase in training and conferences reflects increased demands for training as a result of 

operation uplift, increases operational training, and costs associated with the implementation of the 

police education qualification framework (PEQF).  PEQF will require all police officer recruits to have 

a degree or join as an apprentice from January 2020. 

 

F. The apprenticeship levy was introduced on 1 April 2017 and is set at 0.5% of the pay budget.  The 

levy is paid into an electronic account and can be used to offset training costs.  

 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Temporary & Agency Staff A 50,218 50,305 87 0.17%

Staff & Officer Recruitment Costs B 67,980 79,633 11,653 17.14%

Staff Welfare Costs C 215,772 256,986 41,214 19.10%

Employee Insurance 6,776 8,203 1,427 21.06%

Police Staff Pension Additional Payments D 66,119 67,441 1,322 2.00%

Training & Conferences Expenditure E 622,016 961,471 339,455 54.57%

Apprenticeship Levy F 312,120 321,000 8,880 2.85%

Total 1,341,001 1,745,039 404,038 30.13%

38



 

 

 

C7. Transport Related Budgets 

Expenditure on transport budgets accounts for approximately 2% of Constabulary expenditure.  The 

transport budgets have been uplifted for inflation at a rate of 2% in the main, the exception being fuel 

which has been increased by 5%.  The proposed transport related budget for 2020/21 and a comparison 

with that of 2019/20 is shown in the table below: 

 

 

 

Notes: 

A. The vehicle repairs and maintenance budget covers the routine servicing and maintenance of the 

constabulary vehicle fleet.  The budget also covers the costs of repairing accidental vehicle damage 

where this falls below the insurance excess. 

 

B. The vehicle fuel budget has increased.  The budgets for 2020/21 have been rebased to reflect the 

current level of activity and fuel prices.  In addition, fuel prices are expected to continue to rise and 

as a result a higher inflation rate of 5% has been applied to the vehicle fuel budget.  

 
C. Vehicle Hire costs have steadily increased over the past few years.  The increases in part relate to the 

cost of car hire associated with training.  The implementation of the travel desk has improved 

decision making around the most cost effective means of travel. 

 
 

 

 

  

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Vehicle Repair & Maintenance A 724,813 784,714 59,901 8.26%

Vehicle Fuel B 1,030,148 1,076,121 45,973 4.46%

Vehicle Contract Hire & Operating Leases C 212,657 252,217 39,560 18.60%

Car Allowances & Travel Expenses 287,782 298,878 11,096 3.86%

Transport Other 37,394 41,619 4,225 11.30%

Total 2,292,794 2,453,549 160,755 7.01%

39



 

 

 

The vehicle fleet consists of 282 vehicles and can be broadly categorised as follows:   

 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fleet Summary Number of 

vehicles in 

category

Covert 14

Neighbourhood Policing 92

Specialist Vehicles 28

Dog Vehicles 10

Motor Cycles 8

Pool Cars 29

Protected personnel Carriers 9

Roads Policing Vehicles 19

Crime Command 39

Crime Scene Investigators 10

Garage 6

Chief Officers Pool 2

Boat 1

Rechargable Vehicles 15

Total Fleet Vehicles 282

The vehicle fleet travels 
approximately 5.3 

million miles per year 
(reduced from 6.8m in 

2010/11).  

Cumbria has 4,784 
miles of roads of which 

76 are motorway.  

Cumbria officers check 
on average 125 

thousand vehicles per 
year.  

Fleet vehicle 
replacements are 
provided through 

the capital 
programme.  The 
current 10 year 

capital programme 
for fleet 

replacements 
amounts to £15m 

40



 

 

 

C8. Supplies & Services 

Expenditure on supplies & services accounts for approximately 8% of Constabulary budgets.  The majority 

of budgets have been increased for general inflation at 2%.  

  

 

 
Notes: 

 
A. The budget for clothing uniform and laundry has reduced as a result of the changes to the planned 

profile of specialist training courses and the recruitment of police officers, specials and PCSOs. 

 
B. The budget for custody costs has increased as a result of an increase in the use of the appropriate 

adult service due to a change in guidance which means that more detainees are being classed as 

vulnerable and therefore need to be provided with an appropriate adult. 

 
C. The budget for Forensics has increased due to an increase in the national charge for Livescan 

(fingerprints system). 

 
D. Communications and Computing costs have increased as a result of various changes to the provision 

of ICT across the force including the one-off dual running costs associated with the implementation 

of new human resourcing, finance and procurement and duties management systems. 

 
E. Other Supplies and Services includes a variety of budget lines including accommodation and 

subsistence, legal costs, subscriptions, audit fees, operational equipment and accommodation, 

consultancy and efficiency savings. 

 
 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Office Equipment, Furniture & Materials 223,921 234,721 10,800 4.82%

Catering Services 195,063 186,562 (8,501) -4.36%

Clothing, Uniform & Laundry A 519,516 489,811 (29,705) -5.72%

Custody Costs B 157,966 226,565 68,599 43.43%

Forensics Costs C 834,725 856,869 22,144 2.65%

Investigative Expenses 102,439 101,324 (1,115) -1.09%

Police Doctors & Surgeons 1,359,522 1,372,818 13,296 0.98%

Interpreters & Translators 46,100 47,022 922 2.00%

Communications & Computing D 5,074,497 5,269,431 194,934 3.84%

Members Allowances & Expenses 7,931 8,993 1,062 13.39%

Other Supplies & Services E 1,908,016 2,194,495 286,479 15.01%

Printing Recharges 75,011 72,290 (2,721) -3.63%

Catering Recharges 24,300 21,800 (2,500) -10.29%

Total 10,529,007 11,082,701 553,694 5.26%

41



 

 

 

C9. Third Party Related 

Expenditure on third party payments accounts for just 1% of overall Constabulary funding and covers a 

wide range of items.   

 

 
 

Notes: 

A. The increase in the Outsourced Services budget relates to increases in contract pricing due to 

contract extensions. 

  

B. The reduction in collaboration payments relates to the cessation of the training collaboration with 

Lancashire, rebasing of the cost of North West ROCU and an increase in the cost of regional disaster 

victim identification (DVI) collaboration. 

 

C. The increase in other third party payments is due to changes in budget across a number of 

commitments both nationally and regionally. 

 

 
  

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Collaborations & Co-Working 315,448 321,812 6,364 2.02%

Outsourced Services A 147,003 188,426 41,423 28.18%

Collaboration Payments B 906,719 839,992 (66,727) -7.36%

Police National Computer / Database 477,405 477,271 (134) -0.03%

Other Third Party Payments C 342,149 350,638 8,489 2.48%

Total 2,188,724 2,178,139 (10,585) -0.48%

42



 

 

 

C10. Income 

The Constabulary receives a relatively small amount of income each year, just 4% when compared with 

Constabulary gross expenditure. The majority of income budgets have been increased for general 

inflation at 2%. 

 

 

 

Notes: 

 

A. Specific partnership funding has increased largely as a result of specific funding to cover the costs of 

a modern slavery co-ordinator post. 

 

B. The increase in relation to fees and charges public fees line relates to the cyclical nature of firearms 

licencing income, which follows a 5 year renewal cycle. 

 
C. The increase in fees and charges general income is as a result of administration charges on new 

secondments out of force.   

 
D. The reduction in single and recurring events is as a result of this budget being re-based in respect of 

specialist policing operations to the level of anticipated income for the 2020/21 financial year.  This 

budget includes specialist policing services in respect of events such as football matches, Kendal 

Calling and escorting abnormal loads. 

 

Description Paragraph 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

£'s

Increase

/(Decrease)

%

Local Government Funding - Specific Partnership A (116,018) (136,742) (20,724) 17.86%

Sale of Assets & Goods (280,751) (286,228) (5,477) 1.95%

Fees & Charges - Public Fees B (206,359) (315,545) (109,186) 52.91%

Fees & Charges - Rental & Hire Charges (26,259) (25,940) 319 -1.21%

Fees & Charges - General C (1,144,641) (1,154,067) (9,426) 0.82%

Private Hire - Single & Reccuring Events D (650,550) (172,550) 478,000 -73.48%

Inter Force Reimbursements Incl. Collaboration E (256,013) (350,001) (93,988) 36.71%

Reimbursed Services - Other Public Bodies F (1,063,310) (1,601,147) (537,837) 50.58%

Transport Trading Income (2,121) (2,163) (42) 1.98%

General Trading Income G (409,197) (463,144) (53,947) 13.18%

Contributions & Reimbursements by Staff (1,750) (1,784) (34) 1.94%

Proceeds of Crime (120,796) (123,212) (2,416) 2.00%

Reimbursements of Licence Expenditure (13,525) (15,300) (1,775) 13.12%

Sources of Income from Other Forces H (799,822) (551,623) 248,199 -31.03%

Internal Recharges Income - Printing (95,509) (86,598) 8,911 -9.33%

Internal Recharges Income - Catering (24,000) (24,000) 0 0.00%

Total (5,210,621) (5,310,044) (99,423) 1.91%

43



 

 

 

E. The increase in respect of inter force collaboration is partially a result of specific funding received to 

cover the costs of additional Counter Terrorism posts. 

 

F. The increase in income in respect of reimbursed services other public bodies, is largely as a result of 

income to cover the costs of new secondments out of force to other public bodies. 

 

G. The increase in General Trading Income relates to the forecast income we will receive as a supporting 

training provider for the new Policing Education Qualification Framework (PEQF). 

 
H. The reduction of income from other forces is largely due to a reduction in the number of officers and 

staff seconded out to other forces. 

44



 

 
 

Cumbria Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 

 

Title: Draft Capital Programme 2020/21 & Beyond 
 
Police and Crime Panel: 7 February 2020

 

 
Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer  
 
Originating Officers:   Michelle Bellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer  

Lorraine Holme, Financial Services Manager 

 

 

1. Purpose of the Report 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide information on the proposed capital programme for 2020/21 

and beyond, both in terms of capital expenditure projections and the financing available to fund such 

expenditure.  The capital programme is developed in consultation with the Constabulary who are the 

primary user of the capital assets under the ownership of the Commissioner. 

 
 
 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Police and Crime Panel members are asked to note the proposed capital strategy for 2020/21 and 

beyond as part of the overall budget process for 2020/21. 

 

 

45

Agenda Item 7c



 

3. Capital Funding and Expenditure 

3.1. Local Authorities (including Police and Crime Commissioners) determine their own programmes for 

capital investment in non-current (fixed) assets that are essential to the delivery of quality public 

services.  The Commissioner is required by regulation to have regard to The Prudential Code when 

carrying out his duties in England and Wales under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The 

Prudential Code establishes a framework to support local strategic planning, local asset management 

planning and proper option appraisal.  The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure: “within a 

clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable”.  To meet these requirements, all schemes within the 4-year medium term capital 

programme are only approved on the basis that they are fully funded either through capital grants, 

capital reserves, capital receipts, revenue contributions or planned borrowing. 

 

3.2. There are three main recurring elements to the Commissioner’s capital programme namely: Fleet 

Schemes, Estates Schemes and ICT Schemes.  In addition to these there are currently a small number 

of “other schemes” which do not fall into the broad headings above and in particular includes the 

replacement of taser and firearms equipment and replacement of the countywide CCTV system in the 

longer term.  

 

3.3. The table below provides a high-level summary of the proposed capital programme and associated 

capital financing over the four-year timeframe of the medium term financial forecast (2020/21 to 

2023/2024). 

 

Capital Expenditure Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £

ICT Schemes 1,933,562 4,268,364 4,425,573 3,530,115 1,786,977

Fleet Schemes 934,404 2,846,820 776,021 1,469,690 971,136

Estates Schemes 3,324,393 282,625 2,075,000 5,885,000 5,600,000

Other Schemes 907,081 155,167 720,000 0 0

Total Capital Expenditure 7,099,440 7,552,976 7,996,594 10,884,805 8,358,113

Capital Receipts 0 0 (1,287,881) (1,541,164) 0

Contributions from Revenue (1,114,900) (3,491,179) (3,421,021) (3,418,641) (3,415,221)

Capital Grants (941,440) (4,061,797) (1,712,692) (100,000) 0

Capital Reserves (1,758,449) 0 (1,575,000) (2,425,000) 0

Borrowing (3,284,652) 0 0 (3,400,000) (5,600,000)

Total Capital Financing (7,099,440) (7,552,976) (7,996,594) (10,884,805) (9,015,221)

(Excess)/Shortfall 0 0 0 0 (657,108)

46



 

3.4. The profile of capital expenditure fluctuates annually.  Across the current ten year programme, annual 

average expenditure typically comprises £1.5m to replace fleet vehicles, £1.5m on estate schemes and 

around £3.0m for replacement of ICT systems and equipment.  ICT Expenditure reflects the 

Constabulary Strategy to invest in technology along with the national programme to replace the Police 

Radio System (Airwave) with an Emergency Services Network (ESN). 

 

3.5. In relation to the financing of the capital programme, the Government’s grant settlement for 2020/21 

included additional funding for the recruitment of 20,000 additional Police Officers, known as 

Operation Uplift.  The headline figures included an additional £5.9m of revenue funding, whilst capital 

grants were reduced by £272k (73%), from £372k to £100k per annum.  The Policing Minister’s 

statement, which accompanied the settlement, made it clear that the additional revenue funding 

included a non-recurring element to cover the capital infrastructure costs associated with the 

recruitment of the additional officers.  The money was deliberately directed to the revenue budget to 

provide forces with maximum flexibility to spend their budgets to support Operation Uplift. The 

resulting downward revision of capital grant funding to £100k p.a. has been factored into the capital 

funding assumptions going forward. 

 
 

3.6. The capital costs associated with operation uplift for Cumbria have still to be fully determined.  The 

temporary repurposing of the Eden Deployment Centre to provide training facilities has, to some 

degree, mitigated the additional accommodation costs, which would have otherwise been incurred to 

train the new recruits.  However, it is still likely that additional estates and vehicle costs will emerge in 

relation to Operation Uplift and will need to be included into future capital programmes. 

 

3.7. A summary of the 10-year capital programme is provided for information at Appendix 1.  The appendix 

shows that the capital programme is fully funded over the medium term four-year period to 2023/24.  

The appendix also shows that in years 5-10 of the programme there are some shortfalls and excesses 

that amount to a combined net shortfall of £1.8m.  The estimates for 5-10 years are built on a number 

of assumptions, which, particularly in rapidly changing sectors such as ICT, are difficult to accurately 

predict. This means that project costs in the later years of the capital programme become increasingly 

indicative and should be treated with caution. 

 
 

 

 

 

47



 

3.8. By the end of 2021/22 historic capital grant and general capital reserves will have been fully utilised.  

This, in combination with the reduced level of capital grant, means that the capital programme 

becomes more reliant on revenue contributions to support capital expenditure.  Historically, the 

annual contribution from the revenue budget was set at £1.2m.  The following increases have been 

approved since then 

 PCP Jan 2017 - Increase of £0.5m to £1.7m for 2018/19 and 2019/20 

 PCP Jan 2017 – Increase of £1.3m to £3.0m for 2020/21 onwards - as accumulated capital 

reserves and grant are fully extinguished.   

 PCP Jan 2019 – Increase £0.3m to £3.3m from 2020/21. 

 PCP Feb 2020 – Increase £0.3m to £3.5m from 2020/21 (to replace lost grant –see above) 

 

This means that revenue support for the capital programme has had to increase by over £2.3m in 

2020/21 compared to the previous year and will now be required to annually remain at or around this 

higher level for the foreseeable future. This puts a significant additional strain on the revenue budget.  

 
3.9. As a result of the majority of capital expenditure being in relation to relatively short lived assets (e.g. 

ICT and fleet of up to 10 years’ life), choices for financing the capital expenditure are fairly limited.  

Borrowing for short-lived assets is not a viable consideration due to the requirement to set aside funds 

from the revenue budget for the repayment of debt over the life of the asset.  Therefore, any future 

borrowing would have to be in relation to building projects with a life of 50 years.  It can be seen in 

Appendix 1 that during 2022/23 and 2023/24 it is estimated that the Commissioner will need to 

borrow £9m.  This is linked to an indicative scheme to improve the Commissioner’s estate in the west 

of the county.   A full options evaluation exercise and formal report will be required before any firm 

decisions are made in relation to this project.   

48



 

The chart below illustrates capital expenditure and funding over the ten-year period: 

 

 
 

 
3.10. ICT Schemes 

The ICT Capital Programme primarily provides for the cyclical replacement and improvement of the 

full range of ICT equipment, hardware and application software to meet the strategic and operational 

needs of the Constabulary. However, over the period of the medium term financial forecast it also 

supports the Constabulary strategy to invest in technology to modernise the police service that is 

delivered to our communities.  The Policing Vision 2025 issued by the APCC and NPCC seeks to 

transform the delivery of policing services and positions ICT as a key enabler of change.  These plans 

for the future will be developed and managed locally within the work streams of Cumbria Vision 2025.     

 

The ICT capital programme is supported by the ICT strategy, an annual refresh of which will be 

presented to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 2020 

as part of the overall budget process for 2020/21.   

 

The ICT Capital Programme also makes provision for a large number of national ICT programmes, which 

include changes of major strategic importance the programme to replace the Police Radio System 

(Airwave) with an Emergency Services Network (ESN).  The ESN scheme is included in the capital 

programme at the estimated cost of £4.2m over the four years of the MTFF and £8.6m over 10 years.  

Details of requirements are still emerging and it won’t be clear as to the financial commitment needed 

locally until the Home Office release further information and devices are developed.  There is slippage 

being reported by the national ESN programme and it is likely to be the new financial year before we 

49



 

get any further clarity.  These prudent commitments in the strategy place the Commissioner in a good 

position for any announcements.  The replacement Airwave handsets will use different technology to 

the old radios and the Constabulary’s control room infrastructure has been upgraded so it is ready to 

support the connection to ESN.  

 

The largest replacement in 2020/21 is for the converged infrastructure – this is a consolidation of 

server infrastructure for running virtual machines in our data centre – also referred to as a private 

cloud.  Future options for this scheme are currently being considered.  

 

If these two large schemes are discounted, the programme shows that the ICT capital programme 

presented remains broadly flat over the 10 years at an average of £1.9m per annum.   This provides 

for the cyclical replacement and improvement of the full range of ICT services: the networks and 

security and that ensures information can be moved securely between the different systems and 

device end points through which it is entered, processed and stored.  It also covers local and mandated 

national police systems such as the main crime and intelligence system, command and control, 

forensics management, prisoner information systems, case and custody, including digital files for 

sharing with Criminal Justice partners and the police national data base that supports the sharing of 

information between forces.   

 

The Constabulary also maintains a range of ICT systems to manage corporate functions including 

financial transactions, human resources, payroll, fleet management, estates management, ICT support 

systems and training and learning systems.  Over recent years significant investment in mobile and 

digital ICT has been undertaken, the capital strategy presented includes for the subsequent 

replacement of existing mobile devices as they reach end of life.  Budgets for devices also provide for 

the costs of all the different technology used to access systems, including traditional desktop 

computers, laptops, tablets as well as the smartphones that use application technology (police apps), 

but importantly provide end user access to all systems and applications.   

 

Appendix 2 provides a high-level analysis of the ICT capital programme. 

 
  

50



 

3.11. Fleet Schemes  

The constabulary fleet replacement programme consists of around 300 vehicles.  The capital 

programme provides for the replacement and kit out of these vehicles on a periodic basis at the end 

of their useful life.  The fleet schemes are supported by the fleet strategy, an annual refresh of which 

will be presented to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 

2020 as part of the overall budget process for 2020/21.  The fleet strategy sets out the constabulary 

fleet requirements over the coming years.  The main aim of the fleet strategy is to provide a cost 

effective fleet service to meet the needs of operational policing.  The majority of vehicles are procured 

through a national framework agreement which ensures value for money is achieved.   

 

During 2014/15 a large number of marked operational policing vehicles (e.g. ford focus estates, dogs 

vans and transit vans) were replaced with a single vehicle platform (SVP) which is based on a one size 

fits all model, this SVP vehicle provided a 

single fit for purpose vehicle type to meet 

the majority of requirements.  These 

vehicles have now reached the end of life 

and those with the highest mileage are 

becoming expensive to maintain.  The 

territorial policing teams, in conjunction 

with driver training and Fleet, have been 

testing a number of possible replacement 

vehicles.  The conclusion has now been 

reached that there is no longer a single vehicle that will meet the needs of these teams and that a mix 

of cars and cell vans will be the most appropriate option.  Taking into account the whole life costs for 

the vehicle, after sales support and warranty lengths the preferred vehicle (on paper) is now 

undergoing, further testing, including fully loaded with operational equipment and initial phase pursuit 

testing.  In the programme presented half of the single vehicle platform vehicles were initially to be 

replaced in 2019/20 but these have all been moved into 2020/21, whilst the correct mix of vehicles is 

determined.         

 

Appendix 3 provides a high-level analysis of the fleet capital programme. 

 

The 2019/20 meet the changing needs of the organisation and the continual review process. 

  

51



 

3.12. Estates Schemes 

The Commissioner’s estate currently consists of 30 premises (including police headquarters, larger 

police stations/Territorial Policing Area HQ, which include custody suites, smaller police stations, one 

police house, leased in and leased out property together with surplus assets subject to disposal).  The 

estates schemes are supported by the estates strategy, an annual refresh of which will be presented 

to the Commissioner for approval at the Public Accountability Conference in February 2020 as part of 

the overall budget process for 2020/21.  The estates strategy aims to provide a link between the 

strategic objectives of the organisation and priorities for the estate.  The strategy outlines the current 

and future requirements of the estate and documents the changes that are required to meet these.    

 

The estates capital programme 

presented in February 2017 

included the development of a new 

Eden Deployment base and 

replacement hostel accommodation 

on the HQ site at Penrith.  In 

response to the Government 

announcement of investment in 

additional Police Officers (Operation 

Uplift) the property will be temporarily utilised as a Learning and Development Centre to support the 

increased level of police officer recruitment.    

 

The Learning and Development Centre accounted for the vast majority of the estates programme for 

2019/20 which has left the cyclical replacement schemes e.g. roof repairs at Whitehaven and Kendal 

along with replacement of the Uninterrupted Power Supply (UPS) at the HQ site in Penrith for 2020/21.    

 

Further into the medium term there is budget allocated to provide improved premises in the west of 

the county in response to major flooding incidents in recent years, options for which will be developed 

over 2020/21.  Beyond this in the 10 year plan, the estates capital budget reduces significantly once 

the west scheme is complete, to leave on average £240k per year for replacement schemes. 

 

Appendix 4 provides a high-level analysis of the estates capital programme. 

 

 

 

52



 

3.13. Other Schemes 

Other schemes include cross cutting or operational programmes of work and include the replacement 

of Tasers and Firearms, works to expand and replace the Countywide CCTV system. 

 

Appendix 5 provides a high-level analysis of the ‘other’ schemes. 

 

 

4. Capital Receipts 

4.1. Appendix 7 provides details of property disposals and the proceeds of those sales over recent years.  

The table shows total receipts of £4,769m.  At 31 March 2019 there was a balance of capital receipts 

unapplied of £2.096m, this means that £2.673m have already been applied to the capital programme.  

The majority of the sales resulted from an estates rationalisation programme and those sale proceeds 

were used to finance the South Area Headquarters in Barrow.   

 

4.2. The remainder of the capital receipts will be applied to the capital programme from 2021/22 as 

reserves and grants are extinguished. 

 

 

5. Supplementary information 

Attachments 

Appendix 1 Capital Expenditure and Financing 10 years 2020/21 to 2029/30  

Appendix 2 ICT Schemes 

Appendix 3 Fleet Schemes 

Appendix 4 Estates Schemes 

Appendix 5 Other Schemes 

Appendix 6  Analysis of the change in Capital Strategy between February 2019 and December 2019 

Appendix 7  Capital Receipts Breakdown 2009/10 to 2019/20

53



 

Appendix 1 
Capital Expenditure and Financing 10 years 2020/21 to 2029/30   
 

 
 
 
 
 
A more detailed analysis of capital expenditure is provided at Appendices 2-5.

Capital Expenditure Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

ICT Schemes 1,933,562 4,268,364 4,425,573 3,530,115 1,786,977 2,132,347 3,837,124 3,488,368 1,323,505 1,838,428 2,897,060 29,527,861

Fleet Schemes 934,404 2,846,820 776,021 1,469,690 971,136 1,035,540 1,304,240 2,732,352 924,520 1,906,644 839,570 14,806,533

Estates Schemes 3,324,393 282,625 2,075,000 5,885,000 5,600,000 310,000 350,000 245,000 170,000 155,000 320,000 15,392,625

Other Schemes 907,081 155,167 720,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 43,000 1,418,167

Total Capital Expenditure 7,099,440 7,552,976 7,996,594 10,884,805 8,358,113 3,477,887 5,491,364 6,465,720 2,918,025 3,900,072 4,099,630 61,145,186

Capital Receipts 0 0 (1,287,881) (1,541,164) 0 0 (886,761) (1,066,363) 0 0 0 (4,782,169)

Contributions from Revenue (1,114,900) (3,491,179) (3,421,021) (3,418,641) (3,415,221) (3,579,136) (3,546,247) (3,575,421) (3,511,069) (3,579,580) (3,508,824) (35,046,339)

Capital Grants (941,440) (4,061,797) (1,712,692) (100,000) 0 0 (300,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (6,574,488)

Capital Reserves (1,758,449) 0 (1,575,000) (2,425,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,000,000)

Borrowing (3,284,652) 0 0 (3,400,000) (5,600,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (9,000,000)

Total Capital Financing (7,099,440) (7,552,976) (7,996,594) (10,884,805) (9,015,221) (3,579,136) (4,733,007) (4,741,784) (3,611,069) (3,679,580) (3,608,824) (59,402,997)

(Excess)/Shortfall 0 0 0 0 (657,108) (101,249) 758,357 1,723,935 (693,044) 220,492 490,806 1,742,189

54



 

Appendix 2 
ICT Schemes 
 

 
status - The ICT schemes within the capital programme above consolidate a significant number of complex and interrelated projects.  The status of schemes is subject to 
agreement between the Commissioner and Constabulary.  It is recommended that delegated approval is given to the Joint Chief Finance Officer to agree the status of 
schemes on the basis of the following principles: 
 
Firm Schemes 
• Schemes that are either routine cyclical upgrade of existing systems/hardware/software 
• Schemes which have been approved by the Commissioner following submission of a business case/decision report 
 
Delegated Schemes 
• Schemes agreed in principle by decision report, where the detail of the financial profile/procurement/implementation plans are still to be developed 
• Schemes within the Joint Chief Finance Officer’s virement authorisation limits for which there is a clear business case 
• Schemes above the Joint Chief Finance Officer’s virement authorisation limits, but which are nationally mandated and supported by a business case.   
 
Schemes not meeting the principles for firm or delegated schemes will be classed as indicative and will require a business case or decision report to the Commissioner 
before approval is given to commence with the scheme.  The status of schemes applies to the funding for the four years 2019/20 to 2022/23, covering the period for which 
the capital programme is fully funded.  

ICT Summary Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

ICT End User Hardware Replacement (002x) 982,280 590,177 1,635,627 339,781 238,116 928,442 214,419 1,483,635 532,515 279,389 738,880 6,980,982

ICT Core Hardware Replacement (003/004x) 1,619,191 3,352,887 498,302 837,000 1,168,050 573,448 2,699,766 440,093 798,748 1,245,899 631,750 12,245,943

ICT Core Infrastructure Replacement (projects) 0 1,047,015 186,809 2,615,383 382,378 99,325 1,210,336 1,416,831 106,397 308,750 1,250,695 8,623,919

ICT Infrastructure Solution Replacement (Projects) 202,395 407,982 104,835 106,827 449,573 622,950 360,788 477,804 117,488 495,376 786,981 3,930,604

Savings Target - 15% Year 5-10 (linked to ICT tech 

advances)
0 0 0 (368,876) (451,139) (91,818) (648,184) (329,996) (231,644) (490,987) (511,246) (3,123,890)

General Prudent Slippage (linked to workloads and 

staffing levels)
(870,303) (1,129,697) 2,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 870,303

Total ICT Summary 1,933,562 4,268,364 4,425,573 3,530,115 1,786,977 2,132,347 3,837,124 3,488,368 1,323,505 1,838,428 2,897,060 29,527,861

55



 

Appendix 3 

Fleet Schemes 

 

 
 
 
Status - Fleet Replacement - It is recommended that all fleet replacement schemes are approved as firm for 2019/20 only.  This provides authority to procure on the basis of 
the currently approved fleet strategy.  The strategy will be reviewed during 2020/21 to inform the status of the capital programme in future years. 
 
  

Fleet Summary Number of Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

Proposed Vehicles in 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

Category £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Covert 14 135,649 20,400 82,861 27,560 81,000 94,600 22,400 91,884 30,160 88,500 70,800 610,165

Neighbourhood Policing 92 81,400 1,683,000 0 660,380 388,800 0 168,000 1,808,040 722,680 424,800 0 5,855,700

Specialist Vehicles 28 206,946 222,360 109,200 120,840 119,880 123,200 285,600 190,380 121,800 256,060 218,300 1,767,620

Dog Vehicles 10 70,000 214,200 72,800 0 0 115,500 196,000 79,800 0 41,300 82,600 802,200

Motor Cycles 8 0 0 0 0 16,200 0 141,120 0 0 17,700 0 175,020

Pool Cars 29 93,000 13,260 121,680 15,900 128,736 40,040 20,160 129,618 15,080 164,964 17,700 667,138

Protected personnel Carriers 9 0 183,600 0 254,400 0 0 0 136,800 0 212,400 0 787,200

Roads Policing Vehicles 19 0 408,000 336,960 106,000 0 440,000 362,880 114,000 0 472,000 382,320 2,622,160

Crime Command 39 104,000 15,300 31,200 0 196,560 118,800 75,040 118,560 34,800 0 0 590,260

Crime Scene Investigators 10 0 0 21,320 284,610 0 0 0 0 0 0 24,190 330,120

Garage 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 159,300 0 159,300

Chief Officer Pool 2 0 0 0 0 39,960 38,500 0 0 0 0 43,660 122,120

Above Strength Vehicles 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rechargable Vehicles 15 243,409 86,700 0 0 0 64,900 33,040 63,270 0 69,620 0 317,530

Total Fleet Summary 296 934,404 2,846,820 776,021 1,469,690 971,136 1,035,540 1,304,240 2,732,352 924,520 1,906,644 839,570 14,806,533

Number of Vehicles Replaced Each Year 37 85 32 41 43 38 40 84 32 55 20 470

56



 

Appendix 4 

Estates Schemes 

 
 

Estates Schemes Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Existing Schemes

Roof Repairs - Various

Whitehaven Police Station 0 37,625 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37,625

Kendal Police Station 0 55,000 0 0 0 0 0 120,000 0 0 25,000 200,000

Roof Repairs  - HQ Dog section 0 70,000 0 0 0 250,000 0 0 0 0 0 320,000

Heating, Ventilation & Cooling Plant - Various

Police Headquarters 0 0 0 0 0 0 300,000 0 0 0 200,000 500,000

Barrow HVAC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60,000 0 0 60,000

Other Existing Schemes

UPS Durranhill 0 0 0 0 0 60,000 0 0 0 0 0 60,000

UPS HQ 0 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30000 0 130,000

UPS Barrow 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60,000 0 0 60,000

North Resilience Flood Management - NPT/Hostel 3,284,652 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Garage Provision 0 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500,000

Durranhill - Replacement CCTV system and cell call 11,822 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000

Kendal CCTV and Cell Call 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000

West Resilience Flood Management 0 0 1,575,000 5,825,000 5,600,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,000,000

Roof Repairs & Glazing  - Durranhill 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,000 0 0 0 75,000

HQ Static invertor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50000 0 50,000

HQ window conservation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 50,000

Durranhill heat and vent plant 27,920 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gas suppression cylinder replacements 0 20,000 -                 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 45,000

Barrow CCTV camera replacement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,000 0 35,000

Kendal M&E plant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 20,000

Carlisle M&E plant (area 2) 0 0 0 60,000 0 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 80,000

Sub Total Existing Estates Schemes 3,324,393 282,625 2,075,000 5,885,000 5,600,000 310,000 350,000 245,000 170,000 155,000 250,000 15,322,625

New Estates Schemes 2020/21

Comms Centre Cooling plant life cycle replacement 70000 70,000

Sub Total New Estates Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70,000 70,000

Total Estates Schemes 3,324,393 282,625 2,075,000 5,885,000 5,600,000 310,000 350,000 245,000 170,000 155,000 320,000 15,392,625

57



 

Appendix 5 

Other Schemes  

 

 

Other Scheme Status Recommendations* 
1. t is recommended that the remainder of the original CCTV scheme remains approved as firm, but that the wholescale replacement of the system in 2021/22 be subject 

to a business case. 
2. It is recommended that the Glock Pistol Replacement and Taser replacement schemes be approved on an indicative basis subject to a business case from the Territorial 

Policing Commander being presented to the Commissioner for approval. 
*scheme status applies to the financial profile between 2019/20 and 2022/23 only unless otherwise stated. 

 
Estates Scheme Status Recommendations* 

3. It is recommended that schemes (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (h), (j), (k) and (l) be approved as firm, these being routine cyclical replacement, upgrade of existing facilities 
or continuation of previously agreed schemes. 

2. It is recommended that schemes (g) and (i) be agreed in principle as indicative schemes and subject to a business case being approved by the Commissioner. 
between 2019/20 and 2022/23 only unless otherwise stated. 

Other Schemes Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6 Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 1-10

2020/21 onwards 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

CCTV 23,890 0 500,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 0 1,000,000

New CED migration (currently Taser X26) 0 110,000 220,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 330,000

Glock Pistol Replacement 0 45,167 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45,167

Portable Ballistic Protective Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,000 43,000

Laser Scanning 58,191 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Business Transformation 825,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Other Schemes 907,081 155,167 720,000 0 0 0 0 0 500,000 0 43,000 1,418,167

58



 

Appendix 6 

Analysis of the change in Capital Strategy between February 2019 and the 

February 2020 position. 

 

Yr 0 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 4 Year Total 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £ £

Capital Strategy - Approved  (February 2019) 8,708,787 9,466,499 5,354,575 8,342,236 12,025,397 35,188,707

Capital Strategy  - Proposed (February 2020) 7,099,440 7,552,976 7,996,594 10,884,805 8,358,113 34,792,488

Difference (decrease)/Increase (1,609,347) (1,913,523) 2,642,019 2,542,569 (3,667,284) (396,219)

Difference by Type
  -  ICT Schemes (2,069,800) (2,692,645) 2,092,502 2,546,169 (3,543,084) (1,597,058)

  -  Fleet Schemes (556,849) 974,100 (170,483) (63,600) (124,200) 615,817

  -  Estates Schemes 360,222 (307,375) 500,000 60,000 0 252,625

  -  Other Schemes 657,081 112,397 220,000 0 0 332,397

Difference (decrease)/Increase (1,609,347) (1,913,523) 2,642,019 2,542,569 (3,667,284) (396,219)

Explanation of the Difference by Type
  -  ICT Schemes

ANPR 0 49,450 50,439 51,397 52,374 203,660

Device Growth Replacement (15,817) 60,000 2,000 2,040 2,081 66,121

Body Worn Growth 0 0 22,484 0 0 22,484

Slippage/B-Fwd (6,612) (175,219) 0 (36,750) 36,750 (175,219)

Control Room - reprofile (706,325) 406,199 100,000 356,000 84,900 947,099

Business Transformation B-Fwd 0 0 0 0 (201,500) (201,500)

Bus Transformation Removed (825,000) 0 0 0 (1,266,491) (1,266,491)

General Slippage 675,612 (2,675,612) 2,000,000 0 0 (675,612)

Purchase of Storage (243,900) 243,900 0 (387,679) 197,716 53,937

ESN (76,970) (915,363) (82,421) 2,561,161 (2,448,914) (885,537)

  -  Fleet Schemes

Peugeot Expert Slippage (690,000) 690,000 0 0 0 690,000

18/19 Slipped to 19/20 and future (74,849) 103,000 19,074 0 (37,000) 85,074

Write Off 61,000 75,000 (33,000) (60,000) (43,000) (61,000)

Sellafield Replacements B-Fwd 80,000 (59,000) 0 0 0 (59,000)

Re-profile & increase for Green Fleet Vehicles 67,000 (39,000) 0 0 0 (39,000)

Territorial Policing Transit Jumbo's B-Fwd 0 180,000 (180,000) 0 0 0

Dog Vehcile B-Fwd due to change in operational use 0 75,000 (40,000) 0 (35,000) 0
Dogvehcile life Extended 0 (70,000) 70,000 0 0 0

Inflation 0 19,100 (6,557) (3,600) (9,200) (257)

2029/30 added in 0 0 0 0 0 0

  -  Estates Schemes

Carlisle M&E plant (area 2) 0 0 0 60,000 0 60,000

General Slippage (192,625) (307,375) 500,000 0 0 192,625

  -  Other Schemes

X2 Taser migration (250,000) 110,000 220,000 0 0 330,000

Glock Pistol Replacement 0 2,397 0 0 0 2,397

Difference (decrease)/Increase (1,609,347) (1,913,523) 2,642,019 2,542,569 (3,667,284) (396,219)

Difference left to explain 0 0 0 0 0 0

59



 

Appendix 7 

Property Disposals – Details of Sale Proceeds 

 

 

 

Year Premises Sold

Sale Proceeds 

£

Costs of 

Disposal £

Net Capital 

Receipts £

2019/20 At the time of writing this report there had been no funds received for any premises sold.

2018/19 Police House -39 Liddle Close Carlisle 159,000          2,546               156,454          

2018/19 Ulverston Police Station 500,000          9,037               490,963          

2017/18 Cleator Moor Police Station 105,000          1,939               103,061          

2017/18 Barrow Police Statation 450,000          10,361            439,639          

2016/17 Police House - 21 Thornleigh Road 266,200          5,570               260,630          

2016/17 Maryport Police Station 80,500            1,995               78,505            

2015/16 Police House 11-12 The Green, Penrith 60,000            2,006               57,994            

2015/16 Wigton Police Station 187,500          4,545               182,955          

2015/16 Ambleside Police Station 321,500          6,131               315,369          

2013/14 Dalton in Furness Police Station 121,000          2,756               118,244          

2013/14 Keswick Police Station 327,000          -                   327,000          

2012/13 Kirkby Stephen Police Station & House 150,000          857                  149,143          

2012/13 Police House - 3 Centurians Walk, Carlisle 175,500          2,827               172,673          

2012/13 Police House - 4 Allan Court, Workington 173,500          2,100               171,400          

2012/13 Alston Police Station 166,000          1,123               164,877          

2012/13 Ambleside Police Station 141,000          1,753               139,247          

2012/13 Cockermouth Police Station 241,000          2,613               238,387          

2012/13 Millom Police Station 45,600            1,644               43,956            

2012/13 Milnthorpe Police Station 140,500          1,260               139,240          

2012/13 Sedbergh Police Station 90,000            1,328               88,672            

2011/12 Police House - Durdar 150,000          2,070               147,930          

2011/12 Police House - 12 Derwent Drive Kendal 183,500          1,943               181,557          

2011/12 Police House - 10 Clifton Court, Workington 125,000          1,320               123,680          

2010/11 Police House - 52 Whitestiles, Seaton 115,500          1,924               113,576          

2010/11 Police House - 6 Helsington Road, Kendal 216,000          2,668               213,332          

2009/10 Police House - 3 Derwent Drive, Kendal 155,000          4,857               150,143          

Please note there were no property disposals in 2014/15 -                   

Total 4,845,800      77,175            4,768,625      

60



 

 
 
Cumbria Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

  

Police and Crime Panel  7 February 2020
 

Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2020/21 to 2023/24 

Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer 

 
 

1. Purpose of the Report 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide for members of the Police and Crime Panel an overview of the medium 

term financial outlook.  It includes the proposal for the precept that the Commissioner is presenting to the Panel 

for their views as part his budget setting process.  This report comprises a high level analysis of the overall financial 

positon in support of the precept proposal.  Further detail and analysis on revenue and capital budgets, value for 

money and supporting information is provided in a series of accompanying separate reports on the agenda. 

 

2. Precept Proposal 
2.1. The precept proposal for 2020/21 is for an increase in precept of 3.47%.  This is an increase of £8.91 per annum 

for a band D property and takes the total police element of the precept at band D to £265.59. 

 

 

 

 

Council 

Tax Band

Calculation 

Proportion

Amount 

£s

Amount 

£s

Increase 

£s 

Increase 

%

Band A 6/9 ths 171.12   177.06   5.94        3.47%

Band B 7/9 ths 199.64   206.57   6.93        3.47%

Band C 8/9 ths 228.16   236.08   7.92        3.47%

Band D 9/9 ths 256.68   265.59   8.91        3.47%

Band E 11/9 ths 313.72   324.61   10.89      3.47%

Band F 13/9 ths 370.76   383.63   12.87      3.47%

Band G 15/9 ths 427.80   442.65   14.85      3.47%

Band H 18/9 ths 513.36   531.18   17.82      3.47%

Proposed 2020/21 Precept2019/20 Council Tax

The Band D 
precept is 

proposed to 
increase to 

£265.59 which 
equates to 
£5.11 per 
week or 

£0.73p per 
day.  

In Cumbria the largest number of properties fall into Band B.  For that band, the precept is proposed to 
increase to £206.57 which equates to £3.97 per week or £0.57p per day.  

61

Agenda Item 7e



 

2.2. For members information this report would normally include a summary of the precept intentions of other Police 

and Crime Commissioners. Due to the late grant settlement this year there hasn’t been the opportunity for the 

Police and Crime Commissioners Treasurers Society (PACCTS) to survey its members as yet. The OPCC will 

endeavour to provide members with this information at the Panel’s meeting.  

 

2.3. Of the further sections within this report, and in support of this proposal, section three summarises for members 

for 2020/21 the main areas of income and expenditure within the budget, including the contribution made by 

council tax.  Section four sets out the medium term financial position, explaining the gap between income and 

expenditure, this being a significant factor influencing the precept proposal.  Section five highlights the 

implications of the overall reduction in the level of financial resources that will be available to police Cumbria and 

section six summarises some of the wider financial risks within the budgets. 

 

 

3. The 2020/21 Budget 

3.1. The net budget requirement comprising expenditure by the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Constabulary 

for 2020/21 is £111.599m.  This is the total net expenditure funded externally by income from the Home Office 

Police Grant and Council Tax.  It represents a real terms increase of income of 7.57% compared to 2019/20.  The 

table and charts below set out the main areas of consolidated expenditure and income for the Commissioner and 

Constabulary.   

62



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Medium Term Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

2020 - 2024 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Police Pay - Police Officer Pay & Allowances 63,980 67,504 69,640 71,886 73,549

Police Pay - Contribution to Pension Fund A/c 22,915 24,923 26,506 21,215 21,215

Police Pay  - Ill Health & Injury Pensions 1,211 1,247 1,271 1,297 1,323

PCSO Pay 2,738 2,272 3,495 3,562 3,631

Staff Pay 23,106 24,866 24,720 25,387 26,183

Other Employee Costs 1,346 1,750 1,939 1,972 1,982

Premises Costs 4,312 4,454 4,559 4,668 4,781

Transport Costs 2,297 2,458 2,529 2,602 2,678

Supplies & Services 10,644 11,202 11,223 11,448 11,677

Third Party Expenditure 2,192 2,194 2,238 2,283 2,329

LGPS Past Service Costs 503 22 23 23 24

Insurances/Management of Change 706 728 743 754 766

Commissioned Services 2,245 2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250

Accounting and Financing Costs 7,376 4,693 6,262 7,106 4,674

Contributions to Reserves Revenue 183 96 167 168 119

Total Expenditure 145,754 150,659 157,565 156,621 157,181

Funded by

Home Office Pension Top Up Grant (22,915) (24,923) (26,506) (21,215) (21,215)

Additional Pensions Grant (1,200) (1,174) (1,174) (1,174) (1,174)

Other Grants & Contributions (6,773) (6,570) (6,579) (6,588) (6,598)

Sales, Fees, Charges & Rents (5,211) (5,310) (5,270) (5,370) (5,427)

Interest/Investment Income (165) (140) (115) (115) (115)

Revenue Reserves Drawdown (1,586) (943) (181) (100) (113)

Capital Reserves Drawdown (4,162) 0 (1,575) (2,425) 0

Formula Grant (59,943) (65,829) (64,898) (67,003) (67,003)

Council Tax Income (43,799) (45,770) (47,975) (50,256) (52,648)

Total Income/Funding (145,754) (150,659) (154,273) (154,246) (154,293)

Net Savings Requirement 0 0 3,292 2,375 2,888

The Constabulary maintains a Police Pension 
Fund Account.  From this account pension 

payments to former police officers are made.  
The payments are funded by employers and 
employee contributions from serving police 

officers and a top up grant received from the 
Home Officer (see separate line within income 

analysis).  

Police Officer Pay 
The figure in the table above for Police Officer Pay 
amounts to £93.674m.   This can be divided into 3 
segments:   

 Police Pay and Allowances £67.504m, this 
includes salary and allowance payments 
made to police officers and employers 
contributions in respect of police pensions 
(at a contribution rate of 31% which 
amounts to £13.7m in 2020/21).   

 Police Pensions Top Up Grant Transfer 
£24.923m which represents the transfer of 
Home Office Police Pension Top Up Grant 
to the Police Pension Fund Account. 

 Ill Health/ Injury Pensions of £1.247m 
(explanation on page 4).    

 

LGPS Past Service Cost £22k 
For the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(LGPS) which is the pension scheme for police 
staff and PCSOs, the PCC/Constabulary are 

required to pay past service contributions with 
the aim to reduce the pension deficit  over the 

next 13 years. 

63



 

 
The total expenditure for 2020/21 is shown graphically in the table below: 
 

Expenditure 2020/21 £150.659m (figures in chart £m) 
 

 

 

 

  

Police Pay, £67.504, 45%

Police Pensions - Top Up 

Grant, £24.923, 17%
Police Ill Health & Injury 

Pensions, £1.247, 1%

PCSO Pay, £2.272, 2%

Staff Pay, £24.866, 17%

Other Employee Costs, 

£1.750, 1%

Premises Costs, £4.454, 

3%

Transport Costs, £2.458, 

2%

Supplies & Services, 

£11.202, 7%

Third Party Expenditure, 

£2.194, 1%

LGPS Past Service Costs, 

£0.022, 0%
Insurances/Management of 

Change, £0.728, 0%

Commissioned Services, 

£2.250, 1%
Accounting and 

Financing Costs, £4.693, 
3%

Contributions to 

Reserves, £0.096, 0%

Police Ill Health & Injury Pensions £1.247m 
These payments relate to officers that the Constabulary has been required to retire on ill health/injury 

grounds under pension regulations.  These costs fall to be met by the Constabulary rather than the pension 
fund.  The budget is made up of two main elements:  Injury Allowance £0.766m, this represents the initial 
lump sum and ongoing payments made to officers who have been retired as a result of an injury on duty.  
Ill Health pension capital equivalent charge £0.481m, whenever the Constabulary is required to retire an 

officer on ill health grounds, the Constabulary has to meet a capital ill health charge in respect of pensions.  
This payment amounts to approximately 2 years pay per officer (£80k).  The budget assumes that there will 

be six such retirements in 2020/21.  
 

64



 

 

The total funding and income for 2020/21 is shown graphically in the table below: 

 

Income/Funding 2020/21 £150.659m (figures in chart £m) 
 

 

 

3.2. The significant proportion of expenditure within the 2020/21 budget provides for the costs of policing within 

Cumbria. The current budget aims to provide the Chief Constable with an expenditure budget of £132.308m. This 

provides for 1,216 police officers, which represents an increase of 51 compared to 2019/20 associated with 

Operation Uplift, and 95 PCSO’s, which represents maintenance of the number of the established posts compared 

to 2019/20. Actual numbers of staff may fluctuate above and below the establishment depending on the pattern 

of recruitment, leavers and retirements. This funding provides for a range of policing services: 

 

 

 

 

 

The chart on the next page provides an illustration of the main areas of constabulary spend with a brief 

description of each item.   

 

Home Office Pension 

Top Up Grant, £24.923, 
17%

Additional Pensions 

Grant, £1.174, 1%

Other Grants & 

Contributions, £6.570, 
4%

Sales, Fees, Charges & 

Rents, £5.310, 3%

Interest/Investment …

Revenue Reserves 

Drawdown, £0.943, 1%

Capital Reserves 

Drawdown, £0.000, 0%Formula Grant, £65.829, 

44%

Council Tax Income, 

£45.770, 30%

Constabulary Net Budget 2020/21 
Expenditure £137.618m. 

Earned Income (£5.3100m) 
Net Budget (£132.308m)  

 

65



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

£3.985m

£5.505m

£8.086m

£8.390m

£9.507m

£9.641m

£9.801m

£21.833m

£24.491m

£36.377m

Specialist Operations

Road Policing

Dealing with the Public

Criminal Justice Arrangements

Support Services

Other Operational Policing

Information Communication Technology

Crime Intelligence & Investigations

Police Pensions

Local Policing

Constabulary Expenditure 2020/21 £137.618m

Local Policing – neighbourhood policing, incident management, community liaison, local command team and 

support overheads. 

Police Pensions – this reflects the constabulary’s contribution to the police pension fund account to meet the 

pension deficit.  A top up grant from the Home Office to offset this amount is received by the Commissioner. 

Crime, Intelligence, Investigations and Public Protection - crime support command team and support overheads, 

major investigations unit, economic crime, serious and organised crime unit, public protection, local investigation,  

central intelligence, intelligence/threat assessments, covert policing, scenes of crime officers, external forensic 

costs, fingerprint/DNA bureau, photographic image recovery and other forensic services. 

Information Communication Technology – includes the cost of the provision and support of a wide range of 

computer and communications systems to operational policing. 

Criminal Justice Arrangements – custody/prisoner handling, criminal justice arrangements, Police National 

Computer, civil disclosure/criminal records bureau, coroner assistance, fixed penalty scheme/central ticket office. 

Support Services – includes costs associated with providing business support to operational policing including HR, 

finance, legal, procurement, fleet, estates, press and media. 

Dealing with the Public – local call centre/front desk, central communications unit. 

Other Operational Policing – providing support to operational policing which includes transport costs, force 

command, professional standards and training. 

Road Policing – traffic units, vehicle recovery, road safety partnership. 

Specialist Operations – central operations command team and support overheads, underwater search/marine 

support, dogs sections, level 1 advanced public order, firearms unit, civil contingencies. 

 

 

 66



 

3.3. The balance of expenditure within the budget is managed by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  The 

Commissioner’s budgets include all the specific grants received from government and in overall terms, is a net 

income budget.  It also includes expenditure on behalf of both the Commissioner and the Constabulary, for 

example the cost of the property estate, insurances and the capital financing that funds the capital programme 

to provide the ICT and fleet needed to deliver policing.  The chart below sets out forecast income and expenditure 

for 2020/21. 

  

 

3.4. Further detail on the Commissioner’s budgets and the funding provided to the Constabulary, including the capital 

programme, is set out in the separate reports on this agenda.  Appendix A provides the overall financial positon 

for the next four years, setting out a summary of Constabulary budgets, the Commissioner’s budgets, the use of 

reserves to fund this expenditure and the budget requirement funded by formula grant and council tax. 

 

3.5. The 2020/21 budget includes a proposed increase in council tax of £8.91, arising from the Commissioner’s precept 

proposal.  The precept proposal for 2020/21 is for an increase in precept of 3.47%.  This is an increase of £8.91 

per annum for a band D property and takes the total police element of the precept at band D to £265.59.   

 
3.6. The most significant feature of the 2020/21 Home Office grant settlement was the provision of £700m of 

additional funding nationally to forces to cover the first phase of ‘Operation Uplift’, which is the name given to 

the Government’s plan to recruit an additional 20,000 officers by the end of the 2022/23 financial year. The 

funding was designed to not only meet the costs of officer salaries, but also those of enabling posts, non-staff 

costs and capital.  

 
3.7. Whilst Operation Uplift funding has had the effect of increasing formula grant funding to Cumbria by £4.5m in 

2020/21 and also provided a further £1.4m of grant conditional upon achievement of officer recruitment, the 

additional grants have been largely committed in recruiting an additional 51 police officers and associated police 

-£40 -£30 -£20 -£10 £0 £10

Commissioner's Office

Commissioned Services

Premises Related Costs

Insurances

LGPS Past Service Cost

Accounting, Treasury and Financial

Grants & Contributions

Interest/investment Income

£m

Commissioner's Net Budget 2020/21 
£19.861m

Commissioner’s 
Net Budget 

2020/21 
Expenditure 
£12.946m. 

Income 
(£32.807m) 
Net Budget 
(£19.861m)   

67



 

staff and equipment. The precept proposal therefore aims to mitigate the impact of real term reductions in core 

government funding as the grant settlement makes little or no allowance for the effect of pay and price inflation 

on the cost of providing existing policing services.    

 
3.8. The pay award for both police officers and staff in 2019 was 2.5% and the 2020/21 budget and MTFF are based 

on an assumption of continued pay increases of this level for the duration of the MTFF.  A provision for general 

inflation of 2% pa is made within the forecast along with 5% for fuel. The combined effect has been to put a 

continued higher level of upward pressure on expenditure budgets than has been experienced since the start of 

the Government’s austerity measures in 2011/12.  Every effort is made to manage budgets including the 

Constabulary’s Star Chamber process, which zero bases non staff expenditure, and detailed assessment of vacant 

posts prior to granting approval to recruit.  However, after implementing these measures for several years the 

ability to fully offset the inflationary pressures described above without impacting on services is limited.  

 
3.9. The proposed increase in council tax aims to utilise the flexibility afforded to Police and Crime Commissioners to 

raise income locally to support for the Constabulary in its efforts to maintain performance and keep Cumbria 

safe.  Council tax increases, in combination with judicious use of reserves to support the budget, will help to 

manage budget pressures and therefore maintain services at a higher level than would otherwise be the case.  

However, there will still be a need to identify savings beyond 2020/21 to balance the budget over the period of 

the medium term financial forecast period.   

 

 

4. The Medium Term Financial Forecast 2020/21 to 2023/24 

4.1. Over the life of the medium term financial forecast the net cost of policing services (constabulary funding – 

Appendix A) is estimated to increase by £5.973m from the 2020/21 budget of £132.308m to £138.281m by 

2023/24.  This is because of the impact of increased officers and inflation on salary and supplies and services 

costs, in addition to the cost of pensions.  Police pension’s costs fluctuate year on year and to a large degree will 

be funded by a central government grant.  Whilst other costs are subject to increase, work during the budget 

process has been undertaken to challenge requirements and reduce cost.  Inflation on salary costs is provided for 

within the life of the medium term forecast at 2.5%.  Inflation on supplies and services is provided for at 2% in 

line with Bank of England forecasts.  Significantly, whilst budgets have received an inflationary uplift they have 

also been rigorously challenged through a Star Chamber of senior officers.   

 

The current grant funding outlook beyond 2020/21 carries a high degree of uncertainty, as it will be dependent 

on the outcome of the Government’s next Comprehensive Spending Review to be published in autumn 2020 and 

the allocation of resources in years 2 and 3 of Operation Uplift. By this time the short-term impact of Brexit on 

the public finances will also be becoming known and there is also the possibility that the Police Funding Formula 

68



 

will be re-visited. Against the background of these uncertainties, a prudent assumption that formula grant will be 

uprated in line with the financial model which underpins Operation Uplift has been made, whilst core formula 

grant (excluding the effect of Operation Uplift) will be maintained at its 2020/21 cash level over the duration of 

the forecast.  It has also been assumed that the pension grant of £1.2m which is currently only guaranteed in 

2020/21 will ultimately be consolidated into main grant. In relation to council tax, for planning purposes an 

increase of 3.47% has been assumed for 2020/21, in line with the Commissioner’s precept proposal, after which 

annual increases of 4% are assumed. These increases will be subject to further consultation with the Chief 

Constable, Police and Crime Panel and public.   

 

The table below illustrates that the limited use of reserves amounting to £847k, in combination with the proposed 

increases in council tax, would enable the budget to be balanced in 2020/21.  After this point the combination of 

the removal of the non-recurrent element of Operation Uplift grant, the increase in the need to fund capital 

expenditure from the revenue budget and impact of inflation relative to a small increase in annual funding, results 

in a budget deficit of £3.3m emerging from 2021/22.   

 

 

 
4.2. In light of current demands on policing and enhanced scrutiny of the level of reserves held by policing bodies by 

central government, as part of the budget proposal, the Commissioner intends to make pro-active use of 

reserves.  This will involve support both the revenue budget and capital programme, balanced against the need 

to retain some reserves to provide financial resilience to meet the costs of unexpected future events.  A reserves 

plan is shown as Appendix B of this report. 

 

  

Description 2019/20

£'s

2020/21

£'s

2021/22

£'s

2022/23

£'s

2023/24

£'s

Commissioner's Budgets (15,174,468) (19,861,470) (19,718,789) (13,453,112) (15,747,730)

Constabulary Funding 124,481,433 132,307,599 137,473,271 135,444,062 138,280,558

Movement to /(from) Revenue Reserves (1,402,831) (846,646) (14,420) 68,206 6,386

Movement to /(from) Capital Reserves (4,162,275) 0 (1,575,000) (2,425,000) 0

Net Expenditure 103,741,858 111,599,483 116,165,061 119,634,156 122,539,214

Funding

Formula Grants/Funding (59,942,966) (65,829,188) (64,898,166) (67,002,866) (67,002,866)

Council Tax (43,798,892) (45,770,294) (47,974,705) (50,255,926) (52,648,004)

Net Deficit / Savings Requirement 

0 0 3,292,191 2,375,364 2,888,343

69



 

5. Resourcing Implications of addressing the deficit 

5.1. The Constabulary continues to work with the Commissioner to develop plans to deliver a number of strategic 

options for savings.  The savings that need to be made over the life of this medium term financial forecast are in 

addition to savings of over £25m that have been delivered since 2010.  Proposals need to address the potential 

future gap in funding but also the changing nature of police demand.  Extensive work has been undertaken in 

recent years to understand the impact and resource implications of changing demand on police services and this 

is reviewed annually. 

 

5.2. During 2017/18 the Constabulary developed its Vision 2025 Strategy, which is aligned to the national policing 

vision and aims to equip the force to deal with the emerging threats and challenges over the next decade.  There 

are five key strands of the strategy, namely local policing, specialist capabilities, workforce, digital policing and 

business support, each of which is supported by objectives and a detailed work-plan.  In 2019/20 work-streams 

within Vision 2025 were further developed, recognising that sustainability will be critical to the ultimate success 

of the strategy.  

 
5.3. As part of the budget preparation process for 2020/21 a Change and Benefits plan has been developed and 

considered by both the Constabulary Chief Officer Group and the Commissioner’s Executive Team. Potential 

opportunities to deliver savings and efficiencies with the aim of balancing the budget have been identified from 

aggregating functions to provide greater capacity, changing the workforce mix, making better use of management 

information, and, in particular, ensuring that benefits are realised from investment in new technology.  However, 

with Commissioner elections due in 2020, it would be inappropriate to enact strategic changes to the service 

delivery model until a newly elected Police and Crime Commissioner is in place.  

 
5.4. It should be recognised that having already delivered upwards of £25m of savings during austerity, achieving 

further savings to balance the budget over the medium term will be challenging. Savings plans are also likely to 

be constrained by the requirement to increase officer numbers to ensure that the Government achieves its 

Operation Uplift objective of increasing officer numbers nationally by 20,000. Given that police officers pay and 

other costs driven by officer activity constitute over 70% of the budget, this effectively means that future savings 

will need to be found from relatively small areas of the budget, many of which have already been reduced.  The 

Commissioner and Chief Constable will therefore face difficult decisions to balance financial sustainability with 

continuing to deliver effective services.    

 

6. Risks and Issues 

6.1. When considering the risks and issues which may impact on the medium term financial forecast, there is an 

element of deja-vu in this report. The Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, which will be of critical 

importance in determining the future direction of funding for policing, and Brexit, the outcomes of which should 

70



 

have been known by now, have both been deferred by a year. In addition, the question of the sustainability of a 

funding model, which relies substantially on local taxpayers to fund inflation and other cost pressures in policing 

remains just a pertinent now as it did last year. 

  

6.2. The Medium Term Financial forecast is under pinned by a number of estimates, which, if they ultimately prove 

to be inaccurate, may affect the financial position.  The provision for pay inflation has been reduced from 3% to 

2.5% and is consistent with the 2019 pay awards for officers and staff and future forecasts of the wage rises. 

However, because pay constitutes such a large proportion of the overall budget even slight deviations from 

forecast pay rises can ultimately have a large impact on expenditure. In relation to non-pay inflation, there is a 

risk that this will exceed 2%, particularly in the short term for commodities and services priced in dollars such as 

fuel and ICT contracts, dependent on the outcome of Brexit trade talks and the resultant impact on the value of 

the pound. There are also some less material risks within the medium term forecast in respect of income.  Budget 

assumptions from 2020/21 include an increase in the tax base for council tax income of 0.75% per annum but a 

council tax surplus is no longer assumed.  These assumptions have been made in the context of reviewing 

historical trends and are considered prudent. 

 

6.3. The assumption that core Government grant funding will remain as flat cash for the duration of the forecast is 

considered prudent and in line with recent grant settlements. It is also assumed that the £1.4m of funding for 

2020/21, which is dependent on meeting Operation Uplift objectives, will be realised as the Constabulary is 

confident of achieving its target of recruiting 51 additional officers by the end of 2020/21.   

 
6.4. In 2019/20 the Government increased the rate of police officer employer contributions to the pension fund from 

24.2% to 31%. The Home Office and Treasury have provided Cumbria with £2.4m of additional funding, which 

offsets much of the additional pension cost, £1.2m of which is through a special pension grant. In the 2020/21 

grant settlement, this was provided for a further year. Whilst the MTFF assumes that the additional funding will 

be continued beyond 2020/21, this is not guaranteed and will considered as part of the wider CSR.  

 
6.5. Also, in relation to pensions, new pension arrangements for both officers and staff implemented in 2015, with 

the aim of making public sector pensions affordable have recently been judged as breaking age discrimination 

legislation in a legal case known as ‘McCloud’. It is unclear what action the Government intends to take in 

response to the ruling, but potential remedies are likely to be both complex and costly. No provision is made for 

the McCloud ruling in the MTFF as it is unclear what the cost will be and whether any additional costs will 

ultimately be met by Central Government.   

 

6.6. There are a number of significant national policing initiatives, which will be implemented over the period covered 

by the MTFF including major ICT developments such as the Emergency Services Network (ESN) replacement for 

radios and a total re-vamp of police training under the Policing Education Qualifications Framework (PEQF).  The 

71



 

financial impact of these initiatives on individual forces are not fully known at this point.  Whilst adequate 

provision has been made in the budget and capital programme, based on the best available information, there is 

potential for the ultimate costs to be higher than those estimated, which could impact on the wider budget. 

 
6.7. Members have received regular updates over the last four years on progress of the police funding formula review. 

This represented the most significant risk to the financial forecasts, with the potential to challenge the ability to 

present a balanced budget in the longer term. Whilst progress on the funding formula remains substantially 

unaltered from the corresponding report last year, there has been growing impetus nationally over the last few 

months from some forces to consider the funding formula alongside Operation Uplift. There is a continuing 

recognition by the Home Office that the police funding formula is out-dated and no longer fit for purpose but, as 

yet, there is no indication from Government that there is a firm appetite to fundamentally review the formula at 

this juncture. The effect of any change in the funding formula therefore remains a risk in the medium term, 

however, given the uncertainty over the timing and implications of any future changes, it has been assumed that 

there will be no impact on the financial forecasts contained in this report. 

 

6.8. In the context of increasing demand for policing services and having already delivered £25m of savings since 

2010, as articulated earlier in this report, there is a risk that future savings will be difficult to deliver without 

adversely affecting front-line service delivery.  The Constabulary is committed through the Vision 2025 

programme, to critically examine its ways of working and striving for greater efficiency. The medium term savings 

requirement outlined in the financial forecast is considered challenging, but manageable.    

 
6.9. The proposed annual increase in council tax alongside the impact of the tax base increases, will provide additional 

income of almost £2.0m in 2020/21.  The council tax increases assumed over the life of the medium term budget 

have a cumulative annual impact of £8.9m.  Whilst savings are still likely to be required in the medium term, the 

precept increase will support stronger financial resilience and ensure Cumbria Constabulary is better placed to 

deal with the totality of service and financial challenges than would otherwise be the case.  

 

6.10. Whilst this report proposes a council tax increase of 3.47% for 2020/21, final decisions are subject to consultation 

with the public, the Police and Crime Panel and the Chief Constable and will be taken in the context of the 

confirmed budget settlements and feedback from Panel members following their February meeting. 

 

 

  

72



 

Appendix A: Medium Term Financial Forecast 2020/21 to 2023/24 

 

  

Description Base Base Base Base Base

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £

Constabulary Funding

Police Officer - Pay & Allowances 63,979,207 67,504,354 69,640,508 71,886,082 73,548,987

Police Officer - Contribution to Pension Fund A/c 22,915,000 24,923,000 26,506,000 21,215,000 21,215,000

Police Officer - Ill Health & Injury Pensions 1,211,319 1,246,534 1,271,465 1,296,895 1,322,833

Police Community Support Officers 2,738,236 2,272,442 3,494,714 3,562,082 3,631,135

Police Staff - Pay & Allowances 22,496,766 24,211,884 24,049,604 24,699,845 25,478,342

Other Employee Benefits 1,341,001 1,745,039 1,933,362 1,966,677 1,976,611

Transport Related Expenditure 2,292,794 2,453,549 2,524,137 2,597,347 2,673,157

Supplies & Services 10,529,007 11,082,701 11,101,536 11,323,567 11,550,039

Third Party Related Expenditure 2,188,724 2,178,139 2,221,702 2,266,137 2,311,460

Earned Income (5,210,621) (5,310,044) (5,269,757) (5,369,570) (5,427,006)

Total Constabulary Funding 124,481,433 132,307,599 137,473,271 135,444,062 138,280,558

Commissioner's Budget

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner 749,008 811,897 831,187 850,944 871,183

Commissioned Services Budget 2,244,773 2,249,590 2,249,590 2,249,590 2,249,590

Premises Related Costs 4,310,486 4,452,921 4,558,171 4,666,436 4,779,821

LGPS Past Service Costs 503,400 22,300 22,800 23,400 24,000

Insurances & Management of Change 706,439 727,604 743,204 754,404 765,904

Accounting & Financing Costs 7,364,569 4,681,948 6,250,755 7,094,596 4,663,464

Contributions to Reserves Revenue 183,379 95,884 166,784 168,184 119,584

Grants & Contributions (29,940,784) (31,984,558) (33,576,324) (28,294,310) (28,303,520)

Grants - Victims & Restorative Justice (575,661) (583,172) (583,172) (583,172) (583,172)

Grants - Capital (371,698) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000)

Interest/Investment Income (165,000) (140,000) (115,000) (115,000) (115,000)

Total Commissioner's Budget (14,991,089) (19,765,586) (19,552,005) (13,284,928) (15,628,146)

Use of Reserves

Revenue Reserve Drawdown (1,586,210) (942,530) (181,204) (99,978) (113,198)

Capital Reserve Drawdown (4,162,275) 0 (1,575,000) (2,425,000) 0

Total Use of Reserves (5,748,485) (942,530) (1,756,204) (2,524,978) (113,198)

Budget Requirement 103,741,858 111,599,483 116,165,061 119,634,156 122,539,214

Formula Grant & Council Tax Income

General Police Grant (59,942,966) (65,829,188) (64,898,166) (67,002,866) (67,002,866)

Council Tax Precepts (43,798,892) (45,770,294) (47,974,705) (50,255,926) (52,648,004)

Total Formula Grant & Council Tax Income (103,741,858) (111,599,482) (112,872,871) (117,258,792) (119,650,870)

Net Deficit/Savings Requirement 0 0 3,292,191 2,375,364 2,888,343

Council Tax per Band D Property £256.68 £265.59 £276.21 £287.19 £298.62

Increase over previous year £8.91 £10.62 £10.98 £11.43

Percentage Increase 3.47% 4.00% 3.98% 3.98%

73



 

Appendix B: Reserves Plan 2020-2024            

 

 
Note 1: General Reserves are held at £3m, this is based on an assumed level of approximately 3% of the Net Revenue 

Budget. 

 

Note 2:  Capital Reserves.  The majority of capital reserves have been fully utilised during 2019/20, the exception to this 

is the reserve established for the West Cumbria Estate.  A scheme is currently being developed for approval.  At the 

point of writing this report the reserve is anticipated to be fully drawn down by March 2023. 

 

Note 3: Budget Stabilisation/Insurance Reserves The Budget stabilisation reserves includes operational contingencies 

recommended by the Home Office Financial Management Code and operational reserves that make provision for a 

range of expenditure that has been reduced from annual budgets to achieve savings.  For example, recurrent fuel 

budgets now exclude any provision for a severe winter.  If this circumstance arises the estates budgets can draw down 

from the contingency which will be topped back up in the following year’s budget process.  All recurrent budgets have 

had general contingencies removed.  The insurance reserve provides for uninsured costs beyond the amount of the 

actuarially assessed annual provision.  These costs are charged to the budget and the reserve will be drawn down to 

meet those costs when they arise. 

 

Reserves Plan Actual Forecast Estimated Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast Net Forecast

2020 - 2024 Balance Transfers Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance Gain/(Use) Balance

31/03/19 2019/20 2019/20 31/03/20 2020/21 31/03/21 2021/22 31/03/22 2022/23 31/03/23 2023/24 31/03/24

Note £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

General Reserve/Police Fund 1 3,000 0 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000

Total General Reserve/Police Fund 3,000 0 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000

Capital Reserves 2

General Capital Reserve 3,215 (1,457) (1,758) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HQ Refurbishments 294 0 0 294 0 294 0 294 0 294 0 294

Eden Deployment Centre 3,628 (3,628) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

West Cumbria Estate 3,497 0 503 4,000 0 4,000 (1,575) 2,425 (2,425) 0 0 0

Total Capital Reserves 10,634 (5,085) (1,255) 4,294 0 4,294 (1,575) 2,719 (2,425) 294 0 294

Budget Stabilisation/Insurance 3

PCC Operational Reserve 250 0 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250

Constabulary Operational Reserves 250 0 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250 0 250

Chief Constable's Contingency 500 0 0 500 0 500 0 500 0 500 0 500

Insurance Reserve 1,223 0 46 1,269 46 1,315 46 1,361 46 1,407 46 1,453

Total Budget Stabilisation/Insurance Reserves 2,223 0 46 2,269 46 2,315 46 2,361 46 2,407 46 2,453

Budget Support Reserves 4

Budget Support Reserve 2,839 5,085 (668) 7,256 (641) 6,615 0 6,615 0 6,615 0 6,615

Total Budget Support Reserves 2,839 5,085 (668) 7,256 (641) 6,615 0 6,615 0 6,615 0 6,615

Short Term Project Reserves 5

PFI Lifecycle Replacements 274 0 0 274 0 274 0 274 0 274 0 274

Finance System Upgrade 6 0 (6) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Body Armour (Future Roll Out) 191 0 50 241 50 291 50 341 50 391 0 391

Cumbria Road Safety Initiatives 269 0 (221) 48 (23) 25 71 96 71 167 73 240

HQ Security 80 0 (80) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CS Change Manager 28 0 3 31 (31) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Business Intelligence 143 0 (113) 30 (30) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Red Sigma 407 0 (169) 238 (144) 94 (94) 0 0 0 0 0

Commissioned Services 1,816 0 (100) 1,716 (74) 1,642 (87) 1,555 (100) 1,455 (113) 1,342

Total Short Term Project Reserves 3,214 0 (636) 2,578 (252) 2,326 (60) 2,266 21 2,287 (40) 2,247

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves 8,276 5,085 (1,258) 12,103 (847) 11,256 (14) 11,242 67 11,309 6 11,315

Total All Reserves 6 21,910 0 (2,513) 19,397 (847) 18,550 (1,589) 16,961 (2,358) 14,603 6 14,609

74



 

Note 4: Budget Support Reserve, this reserve has been established to provide support to the revenue budget in the 
shorter term and also to meet the costs associated with business change.   See note #.  
 

Note 5: Short Term Project Reserves primarily fund the one off revenue implications of approved capital schemes, usually 

concerning ICT. The Cumbria Road Safety Initiatives reserve is a partnership reserve held by the Commissioner on behalf 

of the Road Safety Partnership.  This section also includes future liability reserves for areas within the budget where 

there is a future liability for which the amount or timing is uncertain for example the PFI lifecycle reserves match actual 

liabilities on the PFI contract reflected in the financial statements and the Body Armour reserve covers costs that do not 

arise on a recurrent annual basis e.g. the cyclical purchase of body armour.   

 

Note 6: Total Reserves are currently showing a considerable change between 2019/20 and 2023/24. This is primarily as 

a result of the capital reserve established for Estates West Flood Management starting to be drawn down, this reserve 

is planned to be fully utilised by the end March 2023.  Once this has been drawn down the balance on reserves will be 

£14.6m.  By comparison, reserves at 1 April 2014 were £32.8m.  

 

# The medium term financial forecast for the revenue budget (contained within this report) shows an unbalanced 

budget arising from 2021/22.  The cumulative balance of funding to be found in these 3 years is £8.6m.  It is expected 

that this budget shortfall will be financed through a combination of the use of the budget support reserve and the 

generation of efficiency savings. 

        

 

75



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 7 February 2020

From:  Director of Finance (Cumbria County Council)

DRAFT PRECEPT PROPOSALS (2020/2021)

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The purpose of this report is to accompany the report from 
the Police and Crime Commissioner which will set out the 
proposed budget and precept for 2020/2021. This report 
explains the Panel’s options for decision making.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. The Panel is asked to review the proposed precept report 
from the Police and Crime Commissioner accompanying this 
report.

2.2. The Panel is then asked to decide whether to:
a) support the precept without qualification or comment;
b) support the precept and make recommendations, or
c) veto the proposed precept.

3. BACKGROUND

3.1. The Police and Crime Panel are consulted on the level of precept 
(Council Tax demand) requested by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner as he looks to set the budget for the Cumbria Police 
Force for 2020/21. The precept proposal from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner is set out in today’s agenda.

3.2. The Police and Crime Panel are required to review the proposed 
precept and upon consideration of the proposed precept decide 
whether to:-

a) support the precept without qualification or comment;
b) support the precept and make recommendations, or
c) veto the proposed precept (by the required majority of at 

least two thirds of the persons who are members of the Panel 
at the time the decision is made).

77

Agenda Item 8



3.3. If the Panel were to decide (b) to support the precept but make 
comments/recommendations, the Panel would need to make these 
comments clear in the meeting and then have those comments 
conveyed to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner by 8 
February 2020.  In practice, that will mean reporting the 
comments after the Panel meeting.  

3.4. The Commissioner must then consider such recommendations/ 
comments in reconsidering the precept, and advise the Panel of 
his decision as well as publishing that decision. The Panel can 
decide what steps it wishes to take at this point.  

3.5. If the Panel were to decide (c) and exercise its veto, the Panel 
would need to provide a statement to the Commissioner setting 
out its reasons, and indicating whether the precept proposed is too 
high or too low.

3.6. The Commissioner would then consider the statement and issue a 
response, including a revised precept by 15 February 2020. The 
Panel would need to meet to review the revised precept before 22 
February 2020 and make a further report to the Commissioner. A 
special meeting date would need to be agreed to achieve this. 
Then the Panel would need to consider the precept and set out if 
they accept or reject the revised precept – but there is no further 
veto at this meeting.  If the Panel did not meet before 22 February 
2020 in this way, the scrutiny process for the precept would be 
considered to be at an end.  

3.7. If the Panel did meet and prepare its report, the Commissioner 
would then have regard to this second report and would issue a 
response by no later than 2 March. However, the rejection by the 
Panel of the revised precept would not prevent the Commissioner 
from issuing the revised precept as precept for the financial year 
2020/21.

4. CONCLUSION

4.1. The Police and Crime Panel is asked to review the proposed 
precept report from the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
decide whether to support, or veto the precept proposal.

Julie Crellin
Director of Finance (s151 Officer), Cumbria County Council

78



APPENDICES

No appendices.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers.

Contact: Paul Turney, Senior Manager – Accountancy & Financial 
Planning (Deputy s151 Officer)

Tel: 01228 221514 or e-mail paul.turney@cumbria.gov.uk 

79

mailto:paul.turney@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 7 February 2020

From:  Monitoring Officer (Cumbria County Council)

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report advises members of any complaints received in 
accordance with the Panel’s complaints procedure.  The 
report outlines where appropriate, what, if any, action has 
been taken in respect of the complaints.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Members are asked to note the report.

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 At the meeting on 15 October 2018 the Panel agreed to adopt a 
revised complaints procedure to consider non-criminal complaints 
in relation to the Police and Crime Commissioner or other office 
holders.

3.2 The Procedure 
3.2.1 As part of the revised procedure, the Monitoring Officer of 

Cumbria County Council will consider all complaints matters in 
the initial stages.  If the Monitoring Officer cannot broker a 
resolution, a sub-committee of the Panel should be convened to 
consider the matter further.

81

Agenda Item 9



3.2.2 The Panel will receive a report to each meeting detailing the 
position with all ongoing complaints, and requesting a sub-
committee be convened if appropriate.  

4.0 DETAILS OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

4.1 As at the date of this report, there are no ongoing complaints.

Iolanda Puzio
Monitoring Officer, Cumbria County Council

January 2020

APPENDICES

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers 

Contact: Ben Spencer
E-mail: ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk
Telephone: 07919 297914

82

mailto:ben.spencer@cumbria.gov.uk


CUMBRIA POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

Meeting date: 7 February 2020

From: Senior Manager – Policy and Scrutiny

PANEL UPDATE REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report updates the Police and Crime Panel on:

 Key issues and developments that have occurred since the 
last meeting on the 14th October 2019 including
o Progress on actions agreed at the October Panel meeting
o National policy developments.

2.0 ISSUES FOR THE PANEL

2.1 Note the range of activity set out in the report and highlight, if 
required, issues that they would like more information on.

2.2 Note where more information may be required and/or more formal 
reporting from the Commissioner’s office at a future Panel meeting.

3.0 BACKGROUND

Progress on actions agreed at the October Panel Meeting:
3.1 The substantive item for consideration at the last meeting of the Police 

and Crime Panel meeting on 14th October 2019 was around Support for 
Victims.  Panel noted the report and update and requested that a map 
be provided showing the currently activity across the county around 
support for victims of crime.  This will be provided to Panel.

3.2 The Panel also received the following reports:

 Joint audit committee Annual Report
 Revenue budget monitoring reports – Quarter 1.

83

Agenda Item 10



3.3 Specific action arising from the October meeting:

 For a map to be made available indicating what support for victims 
of crime is available in each area of the county.

4.0 HORIZON SCANNING

This section of the report provides members with an overview of 
forthcoming key issues with implications for policing and 
community safety.

RECOMMENDATION

4.1 The Panel is asked to consider the content of this section of the report, 
and highlight any issues that they would like more information on. 
Scanning for significant national and local policy developments helps to 
inform and formulate the Panel’s future work programme content.

4.2 Outlined below are key issues of particular importance to the Police and 
Crime Panel:

 Police Funding Settlement 2020/21
 New Government’s Legislative agenda
 Serious Violence update
 Domestic Abuse update
 Police Complaints changes

Police Funding Settlement 2020/21

4.3 On 22 January, the Government announced the Police Funding 
Settlement for financial year 2020/21. The amount of funding available 
to the policing system in England and Wales will increase by £1.1bn, 
totalling £15.2bn. In total, £700m of this additional funding will go 
directly to Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs). 

4.4 This represents an almost 10% increase on the core resource grant 
provided to police forces last year. It also includes the flexibility for 
PCCs to increase local funding in England by setting the council tax 
referendum limit to £10 for a Band D property. This is a decrease from 
£12 in 2018/19 and £24 in 2019/20.

4.5 The settlement includes the £750m announced by the Chancellor last 
year to enable forces to meet their officer recruitment targets. The 
Government has set a target for the recruitment of 6,000 of the 20,000 
additional police officers by the end of March 2021. 

4.6 Other announcements from the Police Funding Settlement include the 
following:

 £150m to fight serious organised crime, and tackle online child 
abuse

84



 £39m to tackle serious violence, which includes £20m for county 
lines drug dealing

 Year-on-year increase of £90m for counter-terrorism policing, 
totalling £906m in 2020/21

New Government’s legislative agenda

4.7 Following the General Election, in December 2019 the new Government 
outlined the following key bills, which will be laid within the term of the 
current Parliament.

 Serious Violence Bill – Create new duties on a range of specified 
agencies across different sectors to work collaboratively, share data 
and information, and ensure that serious violence is an explicit 
priority for Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs). 

 Counter-Terrorism Bill – Includes a 14-year minimum sentence 
for the worst terrorist offenders, an increase from the s 3 years.

 Domestic Abuse Bill – Includes creating a statutory definition of 
domestic abuse, establishing in law the Domestic Abuse 
Commissioner, providing for a new Domestic Abuse Protection 
Notice and Protection Order, and placing a duty on tier one local 
authorities – ie. County Council – to provide support to victims of 
domestic abuse and their children in refuges and other safe 
accommodation.

 Sentencing Bill – More robust community sentences which punish 
and address offenders’ needs, and changing the automatic release 
point from halfway to the two-thirds point for adult offenders 
sentences for serious violence and sexual offenders. 

 Police Powers and Protections Bill – Implement the 
Government’s commitment to establish a Police Covenant on a 
statutory footing, and ensure that Parliament has the opportunity to 
scrutinise progress made against the Covenant.

 Victims Law reform – A revised Victims’ Code, which will clearly 
set out the minimum level of service victims can expected from the 
criminal justice agencies, will be published early this year. The main 
elements on which the Government expects to consult include 
strengthening the Victims’ Code, and exploring enhancing powers 
for the Victims’ Commissioner to better hold the Government to 
account.

Serious Violence update

4.8 In December, the Home Secretary announced that 18 PCCs will receive 
an additional £35m to continue funding Violence Reduction Units 
(VRUs). These bring together different organisations including police, 
local government, health, and other key partners. This funding is in 
addition to £35m already committed earlier this year. Cumbria Police is 
not included within the 18 police force areas.

85



4.9 On 10 January, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) inspected how county line drug 
trafficking is dealt with at local, regional and national levels. Although it 
identified many instances of good practice, the Inspectorate concluded 
that there needs to be a more coherent and integrated system of 
national tasking, intelligence sharing and response.

4.10 On 15 January, the Prime Minister ordered that a cross-Whitehall 
taskforce designed to crack down on criminal gang activity be set-up. 
The Prime Minister will take personal charge of a new cabinet 
committee to tackle knife crime and violence, with a particular focus on 
county lines drug gangs. 

4.11 The St Giles Trust in January found that excluded pupils have become 
the dominant recruiting ground for county lines gangs. Through its 
intensive, peer-led approach used in the SOS Project, it reported that 
all of the 100 teenagers referred to it after being caught up in county 
lines gangs had all been excluded or spent time in a pupil referral unit 
(PRU) because of their behaviour.

Police complaints changes

4.12 In January, the Home Office introduced The Police (Complaints and 
Misconduct) Regulations 2020, which will ensure that complaints can be 
dealt with quickly, effectively and proportionately. The new regulations 
became operational from 1 February.

4.13 The changes mean that PCCs will have a greater role to increase 
independence and improve complaints handling. The reforms will 
deliver a more efficient system for dealing with police misconduct. It 
also includes a requirement to provide an explanation where 
investigations take longer than 12 months.

5.0 FORTHCOMING MEETINGS AND DATES

5.1 Dates and information are provided below for meetings that may be of 
interest to Panel Members. For Members interested in attending either 
of the two conferences below, travel and further background and 
supporting papers will be arranged ahead of the event.

5.2 Public Accountability Conference meetings are as follows (the meetings 
are generally held at Carleton Hall, Penrith at 10.00am unless otherwise 
stated). The next meetings are:

 19 February 2020 (Budget Setting Meeting)
 4 March 2020

5.3 Joint Audit Committee

 20 November
 18 March 2020

86



5.4 LGA Annual Police and Crime Panel Workshop

 18 March 2020 (Venue TBC)

5.5 Police and Crime Panel Conference

 23-24 November 2020, Scarman House, Warwick Conference Centre

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The Police and Crime Panel are invited to consider issues that have 
been highlighted in this report, and whether they would like more 
detailed reporting from the PCC in future on any of these topics, or any 
other topics they consider pertinent. 

6.2 Work Programme – officers will work with Panel Members to bring 
forward topics for consideration at future Panel meetings based on 
national and local policy scanning including the contents of this and 
future Panel Briefings.

Tim Gale, Senior Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer, CCC
Hani Cox, Policy and Scrutiny Officer, CCC

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

Contact: Tim Gale, telephone: 07810 530146 or e-mail 
tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk

87

mailto:tim.gale@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6a Constabulary Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
	6b Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20
	7a Cumbria Constabulary: 2019 HMICFRS Value for Money Profiles Analysis
	7b Revenue Budget and Medium Term Financial Forecast
	7c Draft Capital Programme 2020/21 and Beyond
	7e Precept Proposal and Medium Term Budget 2020/21 to 2023/24
	8 Draft Precept Proposals (Cumbria County Council) 2020/2021
	9 Update on Complaints
	10 Panel Update Report

